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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

In this medical malpractice action, plaintiff sued an orthopedic surgeon who had 

treated plaintiff’s husband for a lower leg and ankle injury. Plaintiff also sued the 

surgeon’s employer, a medical corporation owning and operating an orthopedic and 

sports medicine clinic. Plaintiff proceeded to trial on her survival and wrongful death 

claims based on plaintiff’s medical negligence theories against the surgeon and 

institutional negligence theories against the clinic. After hearing seven days of testimony 

and attorney argument, the jury reached a general verdict for both defendants. Claiming 

that the clinic was negligent as a matter of law, plaintiff sought judgment notwithstanding 

the verdict or, alternatively, a new trial, as to the clinic but not the doctor.  

The appeal to this Court arose from the appellate court’s decision to reverse the 

judgment on the jury’s verdict and to find – as a matter of law – both a breach of the 

standard of care and proximate causation, despite the testimony of qualified medical 

experts supporting the clinic’s defenses to plaintiff’s negligence and causation theories.  

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether plaintiff met the stringent standards governing the entry of JNOV as to 

the standard of care where the defense presented competent testimony rebutting  

plaintiff’s theory of a breach of the standard of care by a medical clinic. 

2. Whether plaintiff was entitled to JNOV where the record presents conflicting 

evidence on the issue of proximate causation.  

3. Whether plaintiff is entitled to a new trial given the preclusive effect of the 

general verdict rule. 
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JURISDICTION 

This Court has jurisdiction under Supreme Court Rules 301, 303 and 315. The 

trial court entered judgment on the jury’s verdict on November 10, 2016. (C 2169.) On 

April 7, 2017, the trial court denied plaintiff’s timely filed post-trial motion. (C 3315.) 

Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal within 30 days, on May 3, 2017. (C 3318.) The appellate 

court filed its decision on July 19, 2019. Steed v. Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, 

S.C., 2019 IL App (3d) 170299-U. (A 4.) Pursuant to this Court’s order extending the 

deadline for filing a Rule 315 petition for leave to appeal (A 18), on September 27, 2019 

Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, S.C. (“Rezin Orthopedics” or “the clinic”), filed 

its petition, which this Court granted on November 26, 2019 (A 19). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Alleging medical negligence in connection with the care her husband received at 

Rezin Orthopedics, plaintiff Susan Steed, as independent administrator of the estate of 

Glenn Steed, deceased, filed this lawsuit against Dr. Stephen Treacy and the clinic. 

(C 17-23.) This appeal – only as to Rezin Orthopedics – followed a verdict for both 

defendants.  

Diagnosis of Mr. Steed’s Achilles Tendon Tear 

Glenn Steed sustained an injury to his lower right leg and ankle during a pick-up 

basketball game on January 29, 2009. (C 2933.) After a few weeks passed, Mr. Steed felt 

his condition had improved, but might not be just a sprain. (C 2996.) Consequently, Mr. 

Steed, a 42-year-old former marathon runner, made an appointment to see Dr. Treacy. 

(C 2934, 2936.)  
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Dr. Treacy, an orthopedic surgeon, examined Mr. Steed at Rezin Orthopedics’ 

Plainfield office on February 17, 2009. (C 1287, 2936.) Rezin Orthopedics, an Illinois 

medical corporation, owns and operates a medical clinic with facilities in Joliet, 

Plainfield, Ottawa and Morris, Illinois. (C 1285.) Dr. Treacy noted that Mr. Steed’s 

swelling and pain had diminished since the day of the injury, and his function had 

improved, indicating a healing process between the time of injury and the February 17 

office visit. (C 1315.) Based on the physical examination, Dr. Treacy diagnosed a partial 

Achilles tendon tear. (C 1282, 1309, 1315.) With a partial tear, only some of the tissue 

fibers are torn, which permits both surgical and non-surgical options. (C 1317.)  

Dr. Treacy discussed with the patient the topic of deep vein thrombosis (“DVT”), 

referring to the blood vessels within the lower leg. (C 1339.) “Thrombosis” is a blood 

clot that usually resolves on its own (C 1442), but can cause a life-threatening event if the 

clot breaks free, travels towards and reaches the lungs, causing a pulmonary embolism (C 

1340-41). Less than 1% of patients with lower extremity injuries have symptomatic DVT. 

(C 1443.) In Dr. Treacy’s opinion, Mr. Steed’s presentation, the diagnosis and the risk 

category did not make him an appropriate candidate for anticoagulant medication. (C 

1456.) Dr. Treacy recommended treating the injury non-surgically by placing Mr. Steed’s 

lower leg in a cast for about six weeks. (C 1318, 1329.)   

Dr. Treacy’s custom and practice included noting the dates for follow-up 

appointments at the bottom of a document called a “super bill,” which he would give to 

the receptionist at the end of each patient’s appointment. (C 1323-25.) The receptionist 

would use the document for scheduling patient appointments (C 2724-25) and then 

forward the document for billing (C 2707). On the super bill pertaining to Mr. Steed’s 
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February 17 appointment, Dr. Treacy wrote that Mr. Steed should return two weeks later 

for examination. (C 1332.) The receptionist on duty, Jodi Decker, scheduled Mr. Steed to 

return for his cast placement at Rezin Orthopedics’ Joliet office on February 19, 2009, 

but did not schedule a subsequent appointment. (C 2710.)  

Mr. Steed, who had driven himself to the appointment on February 17 and would 

be unable to drive after placement of his lower right leg in a cast, scheduled an 

appointment two days later for casting, when his wife could drive him. (C 1323, 2710, 

2939.) An engineer for a truck parts designer and manufacturer (C 2914), Mr. Steed did 

not want to return for cast placement on February 18; he wanted to go to work that day 

and consult with colleagues about assisting him with transportation during the weeks he 

could not drive (C 2939). 

Scheduling Follow-up Appointment After Placement of Cast 

With the assistance of Cheryl Haddon, a Rezin “ortho tech,” Dr. Robert McNab 

placed Mr. Steed’s right leg in a cast at Rezin Orthopedics’ Joliet office on February 19, 

2009. (C 2939-41.) On that day, Victoria Hare was manning the reception desk in Joliet. 

She scheduled Mr. Steed for a follow-up appointment with Dr. Treacy on March 13, 

2009, approximately three and a half weeks after Mr. Steed’s initial appointment. 

(C 1247-49.) Ms. Hare did not recall the specific reason for selecting March 13 for Mr. 

Steed’s follow-up appointment. (C 3013.) A medical office receptionist with more than 

30 years of experience (C 1265), Ms. Hare’s routine custom and practice for scheduling 

follow-up appointments at Rezin Orthopedics in the relevant timeframe involved 

communicating with the patient to learn his availability on or near the date requested by 
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the physician. (C 1270-71.) Ms. Hare would consult with the physician in the event of a 

scheduling difficulty. (Id.)  

Plaintiff testified she was present when Mr. Steed made his appointment and 

contended that there was not “a lot of back and forth between Glenn and Miss Hare in 

scheduling this appointment.” (C 2954.) On cross-examination, plaintiff conceded that 

Mr. Steed’s calendar referenced various work commitments for March 3, 5, 6 and 9. (C 

3144-45.) 

Mr. Steed’s Condition After Casting 

Over several days after Dr. McNab placed the cast, Mr. Steed began to experience 

achiness in his leg. (C 2945-46.) On February 24, 2009, after he came home from work, 

Mr. Steed reported to his wife a change – that his cast began to feel tight. (C 2945-46.) 

He planned to call the doctor the next day. (C 2946.) Mr. Steed telephoned Rezin 

Orthopedics’ Joliet office on February 25 (C 1232-33, 2171), and Rossana Popplewell 

(a/k/a Rossana Alberico) (C 2819)), a Rezin Orthopedics receptionist, moved Mr. Steed’s 

appointment from March 13 to March 12, 2009 (C 2827, 2832).  

Plaintiff repeatedly testified at trial that Mr. Steed changed his homecare plan 

after the February 25 phone call. (C 2948-51.) Rather than elevate his leg after work by 

placing it on the couch and ottoman at the couple’s home, after the telephone call, Mr. 

Steed raised his leg higher and placed ice behind his knee on a daily basis. (C 2948-50.) 

Mr. Steed also took Aleve at his wife’s suggestion. (C 2948-50.) Plaintiff observed that 

her husband’s condition improved (C 2950-51), but his symptoms did not completely 

resolve (C 2950-51).  
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Mr. Steed’s New Symptom on March 7 and Death on March 8 

Late in the evening of Saturday, March 7, 2009, for the first time, Mr. Steed 

complained to his wife that he was experiencing a new pain – in his right thigh. (C 2958.) 

Mr. Steed told plaintiff that he would call Rezin Orthopedics on Monday. (C 2958-59.) 

Plaintiff found Mr. Steed dead the next morning. (C 2965-66.) He died of a pulmonary 

embolism caused by a deep vein thrombosis (“DVT”) in his right leg. (C 3007.)  

Plaintiff’s Liability Theories and Pre-Trial Motions 

Plaintiff filed a combined wrongful death and survival action against Dr. Treacy 

and Rezin Orthopedics in the Circuit Court of Will County. (C 17.) In her fourth 

amended complaint, plaintiff alleged that Rezin Orthopedics negligently failed to: (1) 

monitor Mr. Steed’s condition; (2) timely schedule a follow-up appointment for Mr. 

Steed as Dr. Treacy ordered; (3) communicate Mr. Steed’s concerns to a physician 

following Mr. Steed’s February 25 telephone call; (4) advise Mr. Steed of the potential 

risks of pulmonary thromboembolism during Mr. Steed’s February 25 telephone call; and 

(5) advise Mr. Steed to return to Rezin Orthopedics or seek immediate medical care in 

response to Mr. Steed’s February 25 telephone call. (C 710-13.) Plaintiff attached to the 

fourth amended complaint a 735 ILCS 5/2-622 report attesting to a meritorious cause of 

action against Rezin Orthopedics for healing art malpractice. (C 720.)  

In plaintiff’s motion in limine no. 12, she sought to bar the defense from 

challenging the standard of care for Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment with Dr. Treacy 

as permitting the appointment for any date later than two weeks after February 17, the 

date of his first appointment. (C 2151-55.) Plaintiff cited no case law to the court to 

support her position that Dr. Treacy’s custom and practice alone defined the standard of 
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care for the clinic. (C 2422-2423.) Ultimately, the trial court ruled that Rezin Orthopedics 

was entitled to defend itself by contesting plaintiff’s version of the standard of care. The 

court denied plaintiff’s motion. (C 2427-28.) 

Among other motions in limine, the trial court heard defendants’ motion in limine 

no. 32 to bar plaintiff from recounting her husband’s description of the content of a 

February 25 telephone conversation with Rezin Orthopedics. (C 1972.) Ms. Steed heard 

about the conversation only from her husband. (C 2609.) Plaintiff offered the testimony 

to prove that, on February 25, Mr. Steed reported tightness in his cast to a Rezin 

Orthopedics receptionist, and that the receptionist told Mr. Steed to elevate his right leg 

above his heart and ice behind his knee. (C 3151.) Based on the multiple layers of 

hearsay inherent in the testimony, the court ruled that plaintiff could not testify to what 

her husband had told her about what Mr. Steed allegedly said to the receptionist and the 

receptionist’s statements in response. (C 1972-77, 2609, 3151.) The court ruled that 

plaintiff could testify to the complaints Mr. Steed voiced to her. (C 2609.)  

Evidence Presented at Trial 

At trial, plaintiff’s orthopedic surgeon expert, Dr. Mathew Jimenez, testified that 

Mr. Steed exhibited several risk factors for DVT during Dr. Tracey’s initial examination 

on February 17, 2009. (C 3009-10.) According to Dr. Jimenez, the standard of care 

required Dr. Treacy and Rezin Orthopedics to schedule Mr. Steed’s follow-up 

appointment two weeks after his initial evaluation. (C 3009-10.) Dr. Jimenez opined that 

scheduling Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment on March 13, 2009, about three and a half 

weeks after his initial evaluation, violated the standard of care. (C 3012-13.)  
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Over a speculation objection, Dr. Jimenez also testified that, if Mr. Steed had 

been seen at a two-week interval, a calf clot would have been diagnosed and treated, and 

he likely would have survived. (C 3033-35.) On cross-examination, Dr. Jimenez 

acknowledged his prior statement that “the risk of the blood clot alone in Achilles’ 

tendon is less than one percent and that fatal PE [pulmonary embolism] is even less than 

that.” (C 3059.) Dr. Jimenez also acknowledged that a DVT can: (1) form over a matter 

of hours, days or weeks; (2) be symptomatic or have no symptoms; (3) become a fatal 

pulmonary embolism with the first sign being sudden death; and (5) never become a 

pulmonary embolism. (C 3063-64.)  

Dr. Jimenez conceded that a patient with a lower leg injury may experience a fatal 

pulmonary embolism even if the patient is treated with chemoprophylaxis. (C 3068.) Dr. 

Jimenez also admitted that whether or when a DVT breaks off is a random event that 

cannot be predicted (C 3064), and that the first time Mr. Steed complained of feeling pain 

indicating a clot in the veins above the knee was March 7, the night before he died and 

days after Dr. Jimenez’ follow-up deadline (C 3080).  

Rezin Orthopedics Staff Testimony 

Plaintiff also called three Rezin Orthopedics’ receptionists, Jodi Decker (C 2700), 

Victoria Hare (C1223) and Rossana Popplewell (C 2819), to testify to the follow-up 

appointment scheduling procedure. Ms. Decker explained that the clinic’s procedures in 

February of 2009 permitted a patient to call for a follow-up appointment. (C 2719.) The 

receptionist would hand the patient an appointment card with a phone number, advise of 

the timeframe for the follow-up appointment and instruct the patient to call the office 

after checking his calendar. (C 2719.) The custom and practice for a patient required to 
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schedule a series of appointments was for the receptionist to schedule the next 

appointment and instruct the patient to call to schedule additional appointments or to 

schedule additional dates at the next appointment. (C 2721.)  

The scheduling process involved working with the doctor’s schedule and the 

patient’s schedule to find a date, time and location for the appointment. (C 2717.) Ms. 

Decker, who no longer works at Rezin Othopedics (C 2700-01), had no reason to believe 

that she deviated from her routine custom and practice on February 17, 2009 (C 2721) 

when she made only one appointment for Mr. Steed to be casted on February 19 

(C 2710).  

Plaintiff questioned Ms. Hare regarding the procedure for handling telephone 

calls from patients. Ms. Hare, who has been working as a receptionist in a medical office 

since 1977 and joined Rezin Orthopedics in 2006 (C 1265), testified regarding the 

policies and procedures for conveying messages from a patient to a doctor or physician’s 

assistant when a patient calls with an issue regarding a patient’s cast. (C 1235.) She 

explained that, under some circumstances, a patient may call and a message will not 

necessarily be generated for the physician or physician’s assistant. (C 1242.) For 

example, if the call merely involved rescheduling as a matter of patient convenience, the 

call may not generate a message. (C 1268-69.)  

Plaintiff also questioned Ms. Hare concerning scheduling patients for follow-up 

appointments. (C 1242.) Ms. Hare did not recall her interaction with Mr. Steed; she 

testified based on Rezin Orthopedics’ computer record and her custom and practice. (C 

1247, 1251, 1254-55, 1270-71.) A computer entry showed that, on February 19, Ms. Hare 

scheduled Mr. Steed for a follow-up appointment on March 13. (C 1247-48.) She agreed 
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that a receptionist is supposed to follow the doctor’s order for scheduling. (C 1242.) Ms. 

Hare’s custom and practice in February 2009 for scheduling follow-up appointments 

included communication and agreement from the patient. (C 1272.) Ms. Hare was not 

trained to assign a follow-up visit without taking into account the patient’s availability. 

(C 1272.) A patient had to agree to the date. (C 1272.) 

Elaborating on her custom and practice for scheduling follow-up appointments, if 

a patient could not come in for an appointment on the day requested by the physician, 

Ms. Hare would attempt to schedule on the day after or the day before the specified  date, 

or at one of the other Rezin Orthopedics clinic locations. (C 1270.) Past about a week, 

Ms. Hare would say to the patient, “we are getting past a week that the doctor wants to 

see you. I really think that we need to reach another conclusion or I would have to ask the 

doctor if it’s okay if you are waiting longer than he wanted to see you.” (C 1270-71.) She 

had no reason to believe that she deviated from her custom and practice in making Mr. 

Steed’s appointment on February 19. (C 1272.)  

Plaintiff also questioned Rossana Popplewell, a Rezin receptionist who handled a 

telephone call from Mr. Steed on February 25. (C 2826-27.) Ms. Popplewell had no 

information regarding the purpose of the call. (C 2838.) She had no recollection of the 

telephone conversation and testified solely based on custom and practice and the 

computer record of the call. (C 2823, 2826-28.) Ms. Popplewell agreed that, if a patient 

telephoned and complained about a cast, the call should generate some type of contact 

with the patient’s doctor or his assistant. (C 2842.) Ms. Popplewell takes a patient’s 

availability into account in scheduling and noted that a physician does not have to be 

consulted to reschedule a patient’s appointment for convenience purposes. (C 2848.)  
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Defense Expert Witness Testimony 

Dr. Michael Pinzur, a board-certified orthopedic surgeon, testified as a standard 

of care witness on behalf of both Dr. Treacy and Rezin Orthopedics. (C 3163, 3166.) His 

practice is limited to foot and ankle disorders, which includes the Achilles tendon. (C 

3166.) Dr. Pinzur serves as quality medical director for Loyola University Health System 

(C 3163); in addition to teaching medical students and residents DVT prophylaxis and 

treatment, as a quality medical director, Dr. Pinzur chairs the venous thromboembolism 

task force for the Loyola University Health System (C 3166-67).  

Dr. Pinzur testified that Rezin Orthopedics’ staff acted within the standard of care 

by scheduling Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment for March 13, 2009, even though that 

date was more than two weeks after the date of Mr. Steed’s initial visit with Dr. Treacy, 

because seeing the patient at three or three and a half weeks did not make a difference. 

(C 3234-35.) Dr. Treacy’s treatment plan for Mr. Steed appropriately called for the cast 

to remain in place for four to six weeks (C 3181), and the standard of care did not require 

any follow-up visits between the first appointment and the time Mr. Steed was scheduled 

to have his cast removed (C 3184). 

As to the standard of care applicable to Dr. Treacy, Dr. Pinzur determined that 

seeing the patient at four to six weeks was reasonable. (C 3184.) Equating chemical 

prophylaxis with rat poison (C 3185), Dr. Pinzur found no deviation from the standard of 

care by Dr. Treacy in not recommending that treatment option. (C 3191-93.) Dr. Pinzur 

explained that the risks of anticoagulant medication for patients with a below the knee 

injury may be worse than the risk of a blood clot. (C 3186.) Mr. Steed, a young, active 

individual, was at low risk for blood clots. (C 3192.) Dr. Pinzur also observed that 
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virtually every patient at Loyola who developed a DVT or pulmonary embolism had been 

on chemoprophylaxis before developing a clot. (C 3191.) The medication is not 

universally beneficial. (C 3191.)  

Dr. Pinzur also explained that a DVT occurring under the circumstances, five or 

six weeks after the original injury, was extremely rare. (C 3238.) Dr. Pinzur explained 

that the timing of the DVT was unknown, so he could not conclude that Dr. Treacy would 

have been in a position to diagnose a DVT two weeks after the initial office visit. (C 

3197.)  

Dr. Treacy also testified that the applicable standard of care did not require a 

follow-up appointment for Mr. Steed two weeks after his initial visit. (C 1452-53.) In Dr. 

Treacy’s opinion, three weeks for follow-up would have been reasonable, and the 

literature suggested that the standard of care would have been satisfied by a four-week 

return appointment. (C 1453-54.) Dr. Treacy, a board-certified orthopedic surgeon (C 

1384), explained his treatment plan at length and that Mr. Steed was not an appropriate 

candidate for Coumadin or other anticoagulant medication based on his presentation, the 

diagnosis and the risk. (C 1456-57.) Dr. Treacy observed that medication does not 

prevent all DVTs, and that medications can cause bleeding, ulcers, stroke and tissue 

damage. (C 1444-47.) He took those risks into account in determining his treatment of 

Mr. Steed. (C 1447.)  

Dr. Treacy relied on his office notes to testify regarding his one encounter with 

Mr. Steed. (C 1288.) An office note stated, “[w]e reviewed the risks of DVT.” (C 1458-

59). Dr. Treacy explained that the risk factors for DVT increase dramatically at age 60, 
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and Mr. Steed was 42 years old. (C 1419-20.) Dr. Treacy explained that Mr. Steed did not 

have most of the dozen or so recognized risk factors for DVT. (C 1421-42.) 

Dr. Treacy also explained that his instruction for Mr. Steed to return in two weeks 

was not intended specifically to evaluate for the presence of DVT. (C 1452.) The return 

visit was part of the general treatment program (C 1452), and Dr. Treacy anticipated 

evaluating the healing process and other treatment options at the next office visit 

(C 1331-32). Dr. Treacy did not know what complaints Mr. Steed may have voiced or 

what Dr. Treacy may have found on physical examination on a day other than February 

17, 2009, the date of his examination, when he conducted a risk benefit analysis for 

treating Mr. Steed. (C 1474-75.)  

The defense called two additional medical experts who rebutted Dr. Jimenez’ 

contention that an earlier follow-up visit would have prevented Mr. Steed’s death as well 

as plaintiff’s standard of care theories. Dr. Jeffrey Huml, a physician board certified in 

internal medicine, pulmonary and critical care medicine, and neuro critical care 

(Sup R 10), opined that Mr. Steed did not have any of the medical conditions that would 

have placed him at a higher risk for developing a DVT. (Sup R 28-29.) Describing the 

medical literature, Dr. Huml testified that it contains no reports of fatal pulmonary 

embolism with an isolated Achilles’ tendon injury. (Sup R 31.)  

In Dr. Huml’s view, Mr. Steed exhibited no symptoms of a pulmonary embolism 

until the night before his death. (Sup R 42.) In the context of a saddle embolism, the type 

of clot experienced by Mr. Steed (C 3006), the initial presentation may be sudden death, 

because the clot is so voluminous (Sup R 42-43).  
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Dr. Huml also explained that patients receiving an appropriate dose of 

anticoagulant may develop a DVT or a fatal pulmonary embolism. (Sup R 43.) The same 

is true of patients taking an aspirin daily – they may develop a DVT and sustain a fatal 

pulmonary embolism. (Sup R 43.)  

Defendants’ hematology expert, Dr. Jacob Bitran, testified that administering 

aspirin to Mr. Steed as a prophylactic anticoagulant would not have been effective in 

preventing the formation of Mr. Steed’s DVT. (Sup R 108.) Dr. Bitran also opined that 

the risk of internal bleeding inherent in the administration of anticoagulant medication 

outweighed any potential benefit to Mr. Steed, who was at low risk for developing a 

DVT. (Sup R 110, 113, 116.) From a hematological standpoint, Mr. Steed had been 

appropriately treated for the development of a DVT. (Sup R 151.) 

Jury Instructions, Defense Verdict and Denial of Plaintiff’s Post-Trial Motion 

The circuit court denied plaintiff’s request for a directed finding that Rezin 

Orthopedics was negligent for its staff’s failure to schedule Mr. Steed’s return 

appointment on a date two weeks after his February 17, 2009 evaluation. (C 2176.) The 

jury considered that claim as well as plaintiff’s other institutional negligence claims – an 

alleged failure “to notify any physician or physician’s assistant on February 25, 2009, 

after the Decedent telephoned the Defendants’ Joliet office” and “to timely schedule the 

Decedent to return to the office for an examination after the phone call on February 25, 

2009.” (C 2201.) The trial judge instructed the jury that Rezin Orthopedics denied “that it 

did any of the things claimed by the Plaintiff,” and that it was “negligent in doing any of 

the things claimed by the Plaintiff,” as well as that any claimed act or omission of Rezin 

Orthopedics was a proximate cause of plaintiff’s claimed damages. (C 2201.)  
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The trial court instructed the jury to consider whether Rezin Orthopedics was 

negligent under the pattern instruction setting forth a professional standard of care for 

institutional negligence:  

 “Negligence by an orthopedic office practice is the failure to do 
something that a reasonably careful orthopedic office practice would do, 
or the doing of something that a reasonably careful orthopedic office 
practice would not do, under circumstances similar to those shown by the 
evidence. 

 In deciding whether the Defendant, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C., was negligent, you may consider opinion testimony from 
qualified witnesses, and evidence of policies and procedures.  

 The law does not say how a reasonably careful orthopedic office 
practice would act under these circumstances. That is for you to decide.” 
(C 2200.) 

The court also instructed the jury to consider whether something other than the 

conduct of the defendant constituted the sole proximate cause of injury. (C 2196.) The 

jury returned a general verdict for the defendants, and the circuit court entered judgment 

on the verdict. (C 2169.)  

Plaintiff’s post-trial motion requested JNOV against Rezin Orthopedics on the 

issue of liability and a new trial solely on the issue of damages, or, alternatively, a new 

trial on all issues. (C 2329-57.) Plaintiff asserted trial error pertaining only to the standard 

of care. She argued that the circuit court erred by denying her motion for a directed 

finding and allowing the jury to determine the standard of care applicable to Rezin 

Orthopedics and make a factual finding as to whether that standard had been breached. 

(C 2329-57.) Plaintiff also raised claims of evidentiary error and an alleged misstatement 

in closing argument. (C 2329-57.) Plaintiff did not contest rulings on the instructions 

concerning the issues and duty of care applicable to Rezin Orthopedics or the sole 
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proximate cause instruction. (C 2222-46). The circuit court denied plaintiff’s post-trial 

motion. (C 3315.) 

Appellate Court’s Decision 

The appellate court granted plaintiff’s request for an order reversing the trial 

court’s denial of JNOV based on the panel’s conclusions that plaintiff’s evidence of Dr. 

Treacy’s and Rezin Orthopedics’ custom and practice for scheduling follow-up 

appointments established the applicable standard of care, and that Rezin violated its duty 

when a receptionist scheduled Mr. Steed’s follow-up visit a week and a half later than the 

two-week timeframe specified by Dr. Treacy. Steed, ¶¶ 27-28. The panel also ruled that 

Dr. Treacy’s and other experts’ testimony did not bear on the assessment of the standard 

of care applicable to Rezin Orthopedics. Steed, ¶ 29. The appellate court also ruled that 

the clinic’s negligence was a proximate cause of Mr. Steed’s death, based on the 

appellate court’s conclusion that, had Mr. Steed returned to the clinic in two weeks, his 

condition likely would have been diagnosed and treated. Steed, ¶ 31. 

ARGUMENT 

The appellate court’s decision to cast aside the jury’s verdict cannot be reconciled 

with decades of precedent mandating respect for juries as fact-finding bodies in all 

categories of cases. See Maple v. Gustafson, 151 Ill. 2d 445, 454 (1992); Pedrick v. 

Peoria & Eastern R.R. Co., 37 Ill. 2d 494, 510 (1967). Recently, in Peach v. McGovern, 

this Court reiterated that an appellate court must not usurp the jury’s function. 2019 IL 

123156, ¶¶ 59-61. In Peach, this Court reversed an errant appellate decision that 

disturbed a circuit court’s denial of a plaintiff’s motion for a new trial. In words wholly 

applicable here, this Court observed:  
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 “The very essence of [a jury’s] function is to select from among 
conflicting inferences and conclusions that which it considers most 
reasonable. *** That conclusion, whether it relates to negligence, 
causation or any other factual matter, cannot be ignored. Courts are not 
free to reweigh the evidence and set aside the jury verdict merely because 
the jury could have drawn different inferences or conclusions or because 
judges feel that other results are more reasonable.” (Internal quotation 
marks omitted.) Id. ¶ 61. 

Whether Rezin Orthopedics acted as would a reasonably careful facility under 

similar circumstances and whether the claimed breaches proximately caused Mr. Steed’s 

injury and death were issues for the fact finder to ponder and resolve. See Sullivan v. 

Edward Hospital, 209 Ill. 2d 100, 112 (2004). The circuit court rightly denied plaintiff’s 

attempts, before and after the trial, to preclude the defense from challenging plaintiff’s 

rendition of the standard of care and plaintiff’s causation theory. (C 681, 2424, 2427, 

3330-32.) The appellate court, however, analyzed the record with blinders on; the court 

ignored the defense evidence and discarded the jury’s conclusions. This Court, 

accordingly, should reinstate the judgment.  

I. The Trial Record Plainly Shows a Question of Fact on the Issue of Proximate 
Cause. 

Plaintiff’s argument for JNOV on appeal focused exclusively on the standard of 

care element of her negligence claim against Rezin Orthopedics. Because plaintiff failed 

to offer any argument regarding the element of proximate cause, the appellate court 

should have affirmed the jury’s general verdict on that basis. See Dillon v. Evanston 

Hospital, 199 Ill. 2d 483, 492 (2002). The circuit court found the evidence refuting 

plaintiff’s causation theory to be sufficiently robust; in fact, the jury received the “sole 

proximate cause” instruction (C 2196) – an instruction plaintiff did not challenge in her 

post-trial motion or on appeal. Yet, the appellate court negated the jury’s verdict in two 
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cursory and erroneous paragraphs in which the appellate court simply ignored the defense 

testimony. Steed, ¶¶ 31-32. See Stanphill v. Ortberg, 2018 IL 122974, ¶ 34; Jefferson v. 

City of Chicago, 269 Ill. App. 3d 672, 675-76 (1st Dist. 1995). 

Plaintiff had the burden to present evidence that a deviation from the standard of 

care proximately caused Mr. Steed’s death. See Sullivan, 209 Ill. 2d at 112. Viewing the 

evidence in the light most favorable to Rezin Orthopedics under the Pedrick standard, the 

record easily demonstrates that the trial court correctly denied plaintiff’s post-trial request 

for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a ruling this Court should affirm under the de 

novo standard of review. See Ries v. City of Chicago, 396 Ill. App. 3d 418, 427-28 (1st 

Dist. 2009), aff’d 242 Ill. 2d 205 (2011). Proximate causation principles firmly 

entrenched in medical malpractice and general negligence case law demonstrate the error 

in the appellate court’s analysis, which disregarded both aspects of proximate cause: 

actual cause and legal cause. See First Springfield Bank & Trust v. Galman, 188 Ill. 2d 

252, 257-58 (1999); Lee v. Chicago Transit Authority, 152 Ill. 2d 432, 455 (1992); 

Thacker v. U N R Industries, Inc., 151 Ill. 2d 343, 354 (1992); LaSalle Bank, N.A. v. 

C/HCA Development Corp., 384 Ill. App. 3d 806, 828 (1st Dist. 2008). 

A. Substantial Evidence Supported a Defense Verdict on the Issue of 
Whether the Conduct of Rezin Orthopedics Was a Cause of Mr. 
Steed’s Death. 

In the appellate court’s recitation of “the evidence presented at trial,” the court 

noted only that Mr. Steed died on March 8, 2009, from an “easily diagnosed and 

treatable” DVT that progressed into a pulmonary embolism, and surmised that a follow-

up appointment in accordance with Dr. Treacy’s order likely would have resulted in 

diagnosis of and treatment for Mr. Steed’s DVT. Steed, ¶ 31. However, multiple “facts” 
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in the court’s summary − beginning with the initial erroneous assumption that Mr. Steed 

actually had developed a DVT at the time plaintiff contended he should have been seen 

for a follow-up visit − were contradicted by defendants’ competent expert testimony. 

To establish cause-in-fact, a plaintiff must show that the defendant’s conduct was 

“a material element and a substantial factor” in bringing about the claimed injury. 

Galman, 188 Ill. 2d at 258. A plaintiff must prove to “a reasonable certainty that a 

defendant’s acts caused the injury” and that, “absent that conduct, the injury would not 

have occurred.” Id.; see Lee, 152 Ill. 2d at 455. 

The defense expert testimony revealed the weakness in the causation theory of Dr. 

Jimenez, plaintiff’s sole liability expert. He speculated that a DVT had formed and would 

have been diagnosed in an office visit two weeks following the February 17 initial 

examination. (C 3026.) Qualified medical professionals rebutted that testimony. Dr. 

Huml, a pulmonologist with three board certifications, explained to the jury that Mr. 

Steed exhibited no symptoms of a pulmonary embolism until March 7, the night before 

his death. He had not previously reported shortness of breath, pain in the chest or other 

DVT symptoms. (Sup R 42, 44.) In Dr. Huml’s view, the first symptom of pulmonary 

embolism was Mr. Steed’s death on March 8, 2009. (Sup R 42.) Dr. Huml elaborated 

that, with a saddle pulmonary embolism such as Mr. Steed’s, the initial presentation may 

be sudden death, given the size of that category of clot. (Sup R 42.) 

Dr. Pinzur also testified that the record did not establish the date of formation of 

the DVT (C 3197), which contradicted the conclusion that a diagnosable condition even 

existed on or about March 3, when Dr. Jimenez contended Mr. Steed should have 
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returned for a follow-up visit. In additional testimony challenging Dr. Jimenez’ claim that 

Mr. Steed had a diagnosable DVT during the relevant timeframe, Dr. Treacy testified that 

fewer than 1% of patients with lower extremity injuries have symptomatic DVT. 

(C  1443.) 

Dr. Jimenez’ cross-examination concessions supported the defense position. He 

testified that pulmonary emboli may be entirely asymptomatic prior to an individual’s 

death. (C 3063.) Dr. Jimenez also conceded on cross-examination that the progression of 

DVTs into pulmonary emboli is random and unpredictable. (C 3064.)  

The reasonable conclusion from the undeniably conflicting testimony is that, even 

if Mr. Steed had returned to see Dr. Treacy in the two-week timeframe advocated by Dr. 

Jimenez, Mr. Steed would not have exhibited symptoms prompting a change in Dr. 

Treacy’s treatment plan. 

Defendants’ hematology expert, Dr. Bitran, as well as Dr. Huml, buttressed the 

conclusion that Dr. Treacy would not have changed his treatment plan had Mr. Steed 

returned for an appointment on March 3. Dr. Bitran and Dr. Huml both testified that 

anticoagulant medication was not indicated for Mr. Steed because (a) the health risks 

outweighed the potential benefit for this patient, and (b) medical literature shows that 

anticoagulants do not decrease the incidence of DVTs in patients like Mr. Steed. (Sup R 

39-40, 108-09, 113-14.)  

In additional testimony calling into question Dr. Jimenez’ causation theory, 

plaintiff testified that Mr. Steed’s tightness and achiness improved following the 

February 25 call to Rezin Orthopedics. (C 2949.) The symptoms improved with ice and 

elevation as well as taking Aleve. (C 2950-51.)  
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The defense expert testimony demonstrated the significance of plaintiff’s account 

of Mr. Steed’s symptoms in late February. Dr. Pinzur testified the complaints about 

tightness in the cast did not mean that Mr. Steed had a DVT. (C 3190.) Dr. Pinzur did not 

agree with Dr. Jimenez that most of the swelling in the ankle had resolved when Dr. 

Treacy saw Mr. Steed on February 17. (C 3198.) Swelling from the injury may increase 

weeks later. (C 3198-99.) Dr. Pinzur explained that swelling and the retention of fluid is 

common and only swelling that is not resolved by elevation is a concern. (C 3190-91.) 

Similarly, Dr. Huml described the concept of “dependent edema,” which refers to 

swelling that occurs after a long day of being upright and is relieved by elevation. (Sup R 

78.) Dr. Huml explained that, after being at work all day, a patient may feel cast tightness 

due to dependent edema rather than development of DVT. (Sup R 78.) Dr. Treacy also 

testified that the potential for dependent edema exists when a patient has a cast on his leg. 

(C 1380.) A concern arises when cast tightness is not relieved by elevation. (C 1364-67.)  

Accordingly, even if Mr. Steed had been scheduled for a follow-up visit with Dr. 

Treacy two weeks after his initial visit, around March 3, 2009, the jury heard sufficient 

evidence for reasonable minds to differ in determining whether (a) DVT or a pulmonary 

embolism had formed by about March 3, 2009, or (b) Dr. Treacy would have had any 

clinical reason to initiate treatment for either of those conditions. 

The appellate court did not account for any of the defense testimony in reaching 

its conclusion about the trial record. This Court should vacate the appellate court’s 

judgment and reinstate the judgment on the jury’s verdict.   
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B. The Defense Presented Evidence Showing That Scheduling Mr. 
Steed’s Follow-up Appointment on March 13, 2009, Was Not the Legal 
Cause of His Death. 

The appellate court also ignored the fundamental principle that a plaintiff must 

prove both “legal cause” as well as “cause in fact” to recover. See Mengelson v. Ingalls 

Health Ventures, 323 Ill. App. 3d 69, 75 (1st Dist. 2001); see also Galman, 188 Ill. 2d at 

257-58. The appellate court’s analysis suggests it paid no consideration to whether 

scheduling Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment on March 13, 2009, was the legal cause of 

Mr. Steed’s injury. Legal cause requires an objective analysis and is “essentially a 

question of foreseeability.” Mengelson, 323 Ill. App. 3d at 75. The appellate court did not 

confront the central “legal cause” query – whether Rezin Orthopedics should bear 

responsibility for the conduct, if in fact it caused the harm. Stanphill, 2018 IL 122974 ¶ 

34. On this record, it should not. 

Expert testimony showed that Mr. Steed’s development of a DVT that progressed 

into a fatal pulmonary embolism was an unforeseeable event. Additionally, the expert 

testimony demonstrated Mr. Steed’s death was a “highly extraordinary” occurrence. See 

Lee, 152 Ill. 2d at 456 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts, Section 435(2), at 449 

(1965)).  

Defendants’ pulmonology expert, Dr. Huml, testified that the incidence of fatal 

pulmonary embolisms in patients recovering from a ruptured Achilles tendon, such as 

Mr. Steed, is “virtually none,” and he is aware of “no case reports in the history of the 

English medical literature of fatal pulmonary embolism with isolated Achilles tendon 

injury.” (Sup R 30-31.) Dr. Huml also testified that Mr. Steed was not at a high risk for 

developing a DVT. (Sup R 28 29.)  
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Dr. Pinzur similarly supported a conclusion that the injury was not a foreseeable 

result of the clinic’s conduct. He observed that, when Mr. Steed initially saw Dr. Treacy, 

Mr. Steed had been mobilizing his injured leg for three weeks. (C 3238.) It was a rare 

occurrence to have a blood clot five to six weeks after the original injury. (C 3238.) 

Nothing about the circumstances fit the usual progression, in Dr. Pinzur’s view. (C 3238.)  

Dr. Treacy’s testimony provided further evidence of the extraordinary nature of 

the event. Dr. Treacy explained that, even with lower extremity surgery, which is a risk 

factor, less than 1% of patients have symptomatic DVT. (C 1443.) Even Dr. Jimenez 

acknowledged the rarity of Mr. Steed’s condition: that the risk of developing a blood clot 

following an Achilles tendon injury is less than 1% and the risk of a fatal pulmonary 

embolism is even lower. (C 3059.)  

The appellate court’s conclusion that the evidence and reasonable inferences, 

viewed in a light most favorable to Rezin Orthopedics, overwhelmingly favored plaintiff 

cannot be reconciled with the medical expert testimony presented to the jury. This Court 

need go no further than the proximate cause analysis to reverse the appellate court’s 

judgment and reinstate the judgment entered on the jury’s verdict.  

II. Plaintiff Failed to Meet the Stringent Standards Governing the Entry of 
JNOV as to the Standard of Care.  

Applying the de novo standard of review, this Court also should reach the 

conclusion that plaintiff fell far short of establishing that the jury heard no testimony 

supporting the conclusion that Rezin Orthopedics, through its staff, complied with the 

standard of care applicable to a reasonably careful healthcare provider under the 

circumstances. See Advincula v. United Blood Services, 176 Ill. 2d 1, 29 (1996) 

SUBMITTED - 8718807 - Patrice Serritos - 3/3/2020 8:13 PM

125150



 
 - 24 - 

(recognizing that a medical facility must act as would a “reasonably careful” facility 

under similar circumstances); see also McClure v. Owens Corning Fiberglas Corp., 188 

Ill. 2d 102, 132 (1999) (noting the de novo standard of review applicable to a trial court’s 

decision on a motion for directed verdict or JNOV). Here, rather than considering the 

entire record of testimony, the appellate court relied solely on one aspect of the facility’s 

custom and practice, that Dr. Treacy would instruct the receptionist regarding his 

preference for scheduling a follow-up appointment, and that, in this case, the receptionist 

scheduled Mr. Steed’s appointment three and a half weeks later instead of two weeks 

later, as Dr. Treacy wrote. Steed, ¶¶ 26-27.  

In its decision, the appellate court briefly mentioned the testimony of defense 

medical experts. Steed, ¶¶ 15-18. The court acknowledged defense testimony that the 

standard of care did not require Mr. Steed to be scheduled to return in two weeks, and 

that Rezin Orthopedics did not violate the standard of care by scheduling the 

appointment three and a half weeks later. Id. ¶ 16. The court swept aside the defense 

testimony, however. Considering isolated testimony of “custom and practice” to be 

conclusive evidence of standard of care, the appellate court stated that the standard of 

care applicable to Dr. Treacy differs from the standard applicable to the facility and 

erroneously declared the defense “presented no evidence to refute” the court’s myopic 

view of the facility’s conduct. Id. ¶¶ 28-29.  

A. Conflicting Testimony Concerning the Standard of Care Supported 
the Circuit Court’s Decision to Deny Plaintiff’s Motion for JNOV and 
Required the Appellate Court to Affirm That Ruling. 

This Court’s decisions in Advincula and Darling v. Charleston Community 

Memorial Hospital articulate the principles demonstrating the fundamental flaw in the 
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appellate court’s decision. A medical care facility must act as do reasonably careful 

facilities under similar circumstances, Advincula, 176 Ill. 2d at 29, and has a duty to 

operate in accordance with the legal standard of “reasonable conduct in light of the 

apparent risk.” Darling, 33 Ill. 2d 326, 331 (1965). “[A] wide variety” of evidence, 

including expert testimony, bylaws, statutes, accreditation standards, community practice 

– as well as custom and practice – bears on the issue of whether a facility fulfills its 

obligations. Advincula, 176 Ill. 2d at 29; see IPI (Civil) No. 105.03.01.  

Consistent with the evidentiary requirements this Court has established in these 

decisions, both parties here presented expert testimony regarding (a) the standard of care 

applicable to Rezin Orthopedics, and (b) whether the receptionist’s scheduling of Mr. 

Steed’s follow-up appointment violated that standard. Plaintiff’s expert, Dr. Jimenez, 

testified that the standard of care required a follow-up appointment two weeks after his 

initial visit and that scheduling his appointment three and a half weeks later violated the 

standard of care. (C 3009-13.) Defendants, in turn, presented expert witnesses whose 

testimony rebutted Dr. Jimenez’s opinions and soundly disproves the appellate court’s 

statement that the “custom and practice” evidence purportedly establishing the applicable 

standard of care for Rezin Orthopedics “was not contradicted.” Steed, ¶ 28.  

Dr. Treacy testified that he was not obligated to schedule Mr. Steed’s follow-up 

appointment two weeks after his initial visit; rather, the standard of care would have 

allowed Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment to be scheduled up to four weeks later. 

(C 1452-54.) Dr. Treacy described medical literature recommending that patients like Mr. 

Steed return for an initial follow-up visit four weeks after cast placement. (C 1454.) Dr. 

Treacy’s testimony established that his written direction for Mr. Steed’s follow-up 
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appointment to be scheduled two weeks after the initial visit reflected Dr. Treacy’s 

personal preference, a higher standard than was medically required. (C 1454-55.) 

In additional testimony supporting the clinic’s conduct, Dr. Pinzur opined that the 

standard of care required the Rezin Orthopedics receptionist to schedule Mr. Steed’s 

follow-up appointment “four to six weeks” after cast placement. (C 3184, 3210.) The jury 

could infer from Dr. Pinzur’s testimony that scheduling Mr. Steed’s follow-up 

appointment three and a half weeks after his initial visit exceeded the standard of care. 

(C 3183-84.) In Dr. Pinzur’s view, it made no medical difference whether Mr. Steed 

returned two weeks or six weeks after his initial visit. (C 3209-10, 3235-36.) 

In Advincula, this Court held that, “while custom and practice can assist in 

determining what is proper conduct, they are not conclusive necessarily of it.” 

Advincula,; see Darling, 33 Ill. 2d at 331-32 (evidence of the defendant hospital’s 

regulations “aided the jury in deciding” the standard of care, but “did not conclusively 

determine the standard of care”). Evidence of “local usage or general custom” at an 

institution may be overcome by expert testimony establishing a separate and distinct 

standard of care. See Advincula, 176 Ill. 2d at 38.  

The appellate court gave lip service to the legal standards governing the evidence 

relevant to whether a treating healthcare facility conducted itself in a reasonably careful 

manner under the circumstances. Steed, ¶ 26. In the next paragraph, however, the 

appellate court declared that plaintiff met her burden of proving the standard of care 

applicable to Rezin Orthopedics, as a matter of law, without accounting for the defense 

expert testimony supporting the opposite conclusion: that the clinic’s staff did not deviate 
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from the standard of care in scheduling Mr. Steed’s appointment for March 13 rather than 

March 3-5.  

B. Testimony of the Rezin Orthopedics’ Staff Refuted Plaintiff’s Claim of 
Negligence. 

Although the appellate court’s decision to enter JNOV for plaintiff hinges on the 

panel’s determination of custom and practice testimony, Steed, ¶¶ 27-29, the appellate 

court omitted from its analysis significant portions of the custom and practice testimony 

of the three receptionists who acknowledged the two-week follow-up order. Steed, ¶ 27. 

The three Rezin Orthopedics receptionists provided additional custom and practice 

testimony, which established some flexibility in the scheduling protocol. It was not 

written in stone, as the appellate court erroneously concluded.  

Jodi Decker, the receptionist on duty at the time of Mr. Steed’s February 17 

appointment, explained that the custom and practice for a patient who needed multiple 

additional appointments was for the receptionist to schedule the first visit and instruct the 

patient to call to schedule additional appointments or to schedule additional dates at the 

next upcoming appointment. (C 2721.) Ms. Decker testified that she had no reason to 

believe that she deviated from her routine custom and practice on February 17, 2009 

(C 2721) in making only one appointment for Mr. Steed for his casting placement on 

February 19 (C 2710).  

Victoria Hare also testified regarding the policies and procedures for scheduling 

patients for follow-up appointments. (C 1242.) While heeding the physician’s directive to 

schedule an appointment within a particular timeframe, Ms. Hare explained that 

scheduling follow-up appointments required not only the physician’s directive, but also 
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communication and agreement with the patient. (C 1272.) Were a patient unavailable for 

an appointment on the day requested by the physician, the receptionist would attempt to 

schedule the day before or the day after the requested date, and, if necessary, would 

check for availability at another Rezin Orthopedics clinic location. (C 1720.) Past 

approximately a week after the requested date, Ms. Hare would advise the patient of the 

doctor’s instruction, and would explain that another conclusion would have to be reached 

or the doctor’s approval obtained. (C 1270-71.) Like Ms. Decker, Ms. Hare also testified 

that she had no reason to believe that she had deviated from her custom and practice in 

making Mr. Steed’s appointment on February 19, 2009. (C 1272.) 

In Advincula, this Court recognized the significant role of custom and practice in 

determining professional negligence, including institutional negligence, as well as in the 

area of ordinary negligence. Advincula, 176 Ill. 2d at 37. Custom and practice assists in 

determining the standard of care. Id. A witness may describe routine practice to prove 

that her conduct on a particular occasion was in conformity with that practice. See Hajian 

v. Holy Family Hospital, 273 Ill. App. 3d 932, 942 (1st Dist. 1995). Although the 

appellate court considered the custom and practice testimony concerning Dr. Treacy’s 

super bill notations and the receptionists’ acknowledgment of their responsibility to 

schedule appointments accordingly, the court disregarded additional custom and practice 

testimony of the receptionists as well as the expert testimony refuting plaintiff’s standard 

of care theory. The appellate court erred in concluding that “all the evidence” 

overwhelmingly favored the plaintiff. Steed, ¶ 29.  
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C. In Addition to This Court’s Precedent, Appellate Decisions Illustrate 
the Third District’s Analytical Error.  

Pogge v. Hale, 253 Ill. App. 3d 904 (4th Dist. 1993), a decision recognizing a 

substantive distinction between institutional negligence claims that involve medical 

issues and those that involve purely administrative issues, demonstrates the appellate 

court’s error in discarding the defense expert testimony.  

In Pogge, the appellate court explained that, where an alleged breach of an 

institutional duty involves medical issues, evidence of the facility’s rules, regulations, and 

bylaws do not, on their own, conclusively establish the prevailing standard of care. 253 

Ill. App. 3d at 917. Rather, a plaintiff must present expert testimony in conjunction with 

the policies to establish the applicable standard of care, because such a claim is “not the 

type which laypersons could evaluate without the aid of expert testimony.” Id. 

One of the plaintiff’s institutional negligence claims in Pogge involved a 

breached hospital policy that allegedly resulted in a delay in the patient receiving 

emergency medical treatment. Id. at 915. The appellate court recognized that expert 

opinion on that issue was necessary to establish whether any delay constituted a deviation 

from the standard of care. Id.; see also Evanston Hospital v. Crane, 254 Ill. App. 3d 435, 

442 (1st Dist. 1993) (hospital bylaws may be admissible but do not relieve plaintiff of the 

burden of establishing by expert testimony that the defendant’s conduct breached the 

standard of care).  

Similarly, here plaintiff’s claim against Rezin Orthopedics involves an inherently 

medical issue—the treatment plan for Mr. Steed’s ruptured Achilles tendon and the 

medical decision regarding when to schedule his follow-up appointment with his surgeon. 
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Plaintiff’s theory of Rezin Orthopedics’ negligence did not, as the appellate court 

suggested, hinge on a purely administrative function. Steed, ¶ 29.  

Notably, the jury received instructions requiring an assessment of whether Rezin 

Orthopedics was negligent under a professional standard of care. The trial court 

instructed the jury to consider whether the defendant orthopedic office was negligent, 

meaning “something that a reasonably careful orthopedic office practice would do, or the 

doing of something that a reasonably careful orthopedic office practice would not do, 

under circumstances similar to those shown by the evidence.” (C 2200.) The trial court 

instructed the jury to “consider opinion testimony from qualified witnesses,” and notably, 

plaintiff did not challenge this instruction, in her post-trial motion or in the appellate 

court. (C 2222-46.) Contrary to this instruction, the appellate court framed the issue as 

requiring “the assessment of a general standard of care.” Steed, ¶ 29.  

D. A Plaintiff May Not Unilaterally Define the Standard of Care.  

The appellate court’s ruling rests on the faulty premise that a plaintiff not only 

may determine its allegations of negligence, but also can dictate the conclusion that the 

allegations, if proved, indeed constitute negligence. Steed, ¶¶ 19, 28. The appellate court 

quoted a portion of the issues instruction, the paragraph setting forth the ways in which 

plaintiff contended Rezin Orthopedics was negligent. Steed, ¶ 19. The appellate court, 

however, omitted the remainder of the instruction, which told the jury that, not only did 

Rezin Orthopedics deny “that it did any of the things claimed by the Plaintiff,” but also 

denied “that they were negligent in doing any of the things claimed by the plaintiff,” as 

well as denied that any of the claimed acts or omissions were a proximate cause of 

plaintiff’s claimed damages. (C 2201.) Rezin Orthopedics was entitled to dispute whether 
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the conduct, if proved, constituted negligence, and to have a jury decide whether Rezin 

Orthopedics breached its duty of care, based on all of the testimony, including the expert 

testimony.  

Permitting plaintiff to unilaterally define the standard of care would create an 

illogical and inequitable framework in medical malpractice litigation. The appellate court 

based its determination that the experts’ testimony was irrelevant on the receptionist’s 

role in selecting the appointment date. Id. ¶¶ 27-29. However, had Dr. Treacy decided 

that a follow-up visit three and a half weeks later was appropriate, written that date on the 

“super bill,” and given it to the receptionist who followed the instruction and scheduled 

Mr. Steed to return on March 13, 2009—then, under the appellate court’s reasoning, the 

experts’ standard of care opinions would have been relevant and probative. 

Regardless of who selected Mr. Steed’s follow-up appointment date, Mr. Steed 

would have received the same medical care. According to the Third District’s analysis, 

however, if Dr. Treacy had scheduled the follow-up appointment date, the expert 

testimony would have created a question of fact regarding the applicable standard of care 

for the jury, and the court would not have disturbed the jury’s verdict. The appellate 

court, therefore, created an arbitrary, bizarre distinction that imposes a more stringent and 

restrictive standard of care concerning Mr. Steed’s medical treatment on the Rezin 

Orthopedics receptionists than on the medical professionals directing Mr. Steed’s 

treatment. The logical extension of the appellate court’s ruling provides an additional 

basis for vacating the appellate court’s decision and reinstating the judgment. 
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III. Plaintiff’s Meritless New Trial Arguments Pertain Only to the Standard of 
Care and Cannot Overcome the General Verdict Rule. 

As in the appellate court, in this Court plaintiff may contend that she is entitled to 

a new trial in the alternative to JNOV. Should plaintiff request a new trial as alternative 

relief, this Court should deny it, despite the appellate court’s determination not to address 

plaintiff’s new trial arguments. Steed, ¶ 33. See Gatto v. Walgreen Drug Co., 61 Ill. 2d 

513, 520 (1975) (recognizing that, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 366(a)(5), a remand 

to the appellate court was unnecessary for the appellate court to decide an issue before 

consideration by this Court). 

The general verdict rule governs plaintiff’s new trial arguments. In the appellate 

court, plaintiff argued that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Rezin 

Orthopedics to contest plaintiff’s standard of care evidence with expert testimony and in 

granting a motion in limine that barred plaintiff from testifying to the content of a 

conversation plaintiff claims occurred between Mr. Steed and a Rezin Orthopedics’ 

receptionist. Plaintiff also argued she was denied a fair trial based on an isolated 

comment in closing by defense counsel, to the effect that scheduling Mr. Steed was “a 

little difficult,” which drew a curative instruction by the judge. These points all pertained 

to plaintiff’s standard of care theory.1 Plaintiff cannot establish prejudice given the strong 

testimony recounted above on the element of proximate cause.  

 
1 With her argument seeking a “new trial on damages only,” plaintiff also requested the 
appellate court to allow a new trial based on the manifest weight of the evidence. 
(Plaintiff’s appellate brief at 17.) For all of the reasons set forth in Arguments I and II, 
the record does not meet this Court’s standard for a new trial: the ample testimony 
concerning Rezin Orthopedics’ compliance with the standard of care and rebutting 
plaintiff’s causation theory supports the trial court’s exercise of discretion in denying 
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A plaintiff cannot succeed on a request for a new trial based on claims of error 

that pertain to only one of several grounds that could exonerate a defendant. Where a 

defendant asserts two defenses, and a jury returns a general verdict in favor of that 

defendant, a reviewing court presumes that the jury resolved all issues in favor of the 

defendant. See Lazenby v. Mark’s Construction, Inc., 236 Ill 2d 83, 101 (2010). This 

principle is well established in medical malpractice case law. See Arient v. Alhaj-

Hussein, 2017 IL App (1st) 162369, ¶¶ 44-46; see also Jones v. Beck, 2014 IL App (1st) 

131124, ¶ 30 (upholding defense verdict in medical malpractice case based on the two-

issue rule, despite the appellate court’s finding of instructional error); Davis v. Kraff, 405 

Ill. App. 3d 20, 39 (1st Dist. 2010) (without a special interrogatory revealing the jury’s 

findings on any one of multiple potentially dispositive issues, the appellate court 

presumed that the jury determined all issues in favor of the defense); Robinson v. Boffa, 

402 Ill. App. 3d 401, 407 (1st Dist. 2010) (affirming verdict in favor of defendant where 

plaintiff appealed on grounds relating to proximate cause defense concerning the conduct 

of a non-party physician, but defendant’s second causation defense concerning 

preexisting health issues supported the jury’s verdict); Tabe v. Ausman, 388 Ill. App. 3d 

398, 402-05 (1st Dist. 2009) (holding that failure to follow two-issue rule in medical 

negligence case constituted reversible error).  

 
plaintiff’s post-trial request for a new trial.  See Maple v. Gustafson, 151 Ill. 2d 445, 455-
56 (1992). 
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A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Allowing Rezin 
Orthopedics to Defend Itself on the Standard of Care (Plaintiff’s 
Motion in Limine No. 12). 

The trial court properly denied plaintiff’s motion in limine no. 12 seeking to bar 

testimony that the standard of care applicable to Dr. Treacy allowed Rezin Orthopedics to 

schedule a follow-up appointment later than two weeks after Mr. Steed’s initial 

appointment. (C 2151-56.) Plaintiff was incorrect in arguing that the trial court’s denial 

of motion in limine no. 12 allowed defendants to introduce testimony that plaintiff 

contended was unnecessary given Dr. Treacy’s instruction and the actual date scheduled 

for the office visit. Claiming defendant had no viable reason for scheduling the 

appointment on March 13 rather than March 3-5 (C 2155) plaintiff requested an order 

barring the expert testimony the defense disclosed on standard of care, and even barring 

cross-examination of plaintiff’s medical expert (C 2155). 

During hearings on the motions in limine, the trial court asked whether any case 

law held that, where an institution has adopted a policy consistent with one standard of 

care, it may not challenge the standard of care beyond its internal policy. (C 2423-24.) 

Plaintiff’s counsel cited no supporting authority in its motion (C 2151-55) or in answer to 

the trial court’s question. (C 2424). Observing that the standard of care is broader than 

the policy of a single institution and the court’s obligation to permit the defense to 

present its side of the case on the standard of care, the trial court denied plaintiff’s 

motion. (C 2423-28.)   

The allegations contained in plaintiff’s own Fourth Amended Complaint placed in 

issue the standard of care applicable to Rezin Orthopedics’ scheduling Mr. Steed’s 

follow-up appointment. Plaintiff alleged that both the clinic and Dr. Treacy were 
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negligent in their alleged failure to schedule a timely follow-up visit for Mr. Steed. 

(C 691, 698.) Therefore, evidence regarding the applicable standard of care as it applied 

to both Rezin Orthopedics and to Dr. Treacy was relevant.  

Plaintiff mischaracterized the concept of duty. By plaintiff’s argument, the 

receptionists’ obligation to Dr. Treacy to follow his instructions controlled the standard 

of care. At issue, however, is Rezin Orthopedics’ duty to provide medical care to Mr. 

Steed within the applicable standard of care. As set forth in Argument II above, a jury 

may consider a healthcare facility’s custom and practice in determining the standard of 

care along with a variety of evidence, including expert testimony bearing on the standard 

of care. Advincula, 176 Ill. 2d at 29. Custom and practice is relevant but not conclusive. 

Id at 38; Darling, 33 Ill. 2d at 331. In ruling on motion in limine no. 12, the trial court 

correctly reasoned that the standard of care issue is “broader than what one institution 

does” (C 2424) and properly permitted Rezin Orthopedics to challenge plaintiff’s 

standard of care position.  

Notably, plaintiff did not cite a single case in her appellate briefs supporting her 

contention that the instruction from Dr. Treacy to set Mr. Steed’s appointment in two 

weeks conclusively established the standard of care. Consequently, plaintiff forfeited the 

argument on appeal. See Ballard RN Center v. Kohll’s Pharmacy & Homecare, Inc., 

2015 IL 118644, ¶ 48; Ill. S. Ct. Rule 341(h)(7). The trial court’s denial of plaintiff’s 

motion in limine no. 12 presents no basis for reversal. 

B. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Hearsay Testimony. 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding evidence regarding the 

contents of a phone call made by Mr. Steed to the Rezin office on February 25, 2009. The 
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court granted defendants’ motion in limine no. 32 to bar plaintiff from testifying to the 

contents of the telephone call conversation on the basis that the proffered testimony was 

hearsay. (C 1972-77). 

At trial, plaintiff sought to testify that Mr. Steed told plaintiff that, when Mr. 

Steed called Rezin Orthopedics’ office on February 25, he reported experiencing achiness 

in his right calf and that his cast felt tight. (C 3149-51.) Further, plaintiff was prepared to 

testify that the person to whom Mr. Steed was speaking told Mr. Steed to elevate his leg 

and place ice behind his knees. (Id.) Plaintiff offered the testimony to prove her 

contention that Rezin Orthopedics breached the standard of care in handling the February 

25th telephone call from Mr. Steed.  

In a ruling clearly within its discretion, the trial court determined that the 

testimony constituted hearsay, an out of court statement by a declarant submitted to prove 

the truth of the matter asserted. Ill. R. Evid. 801. Rezin Orthopedics argued that 

information told to plaintiff by Mr. Steed about what a third person said is double hearsay 

that does not fall within any exception to the general rule. (C 1972-77, 2599.) The trial 

court properly determined that the testimony did not fall within the “state of mind” 

exception to the hearsay rule. (C 2067-77.) See Agins v. Schomberg, 397 Ill. App. 3d 127, 

136-37 (1st Dist. 2009). 

The claims against Rezin Orthopedics set forth in the issues instruction included 

that it allegedly “[f]ailed to notify any physician or physician’s assistant on February 25, 

2009, after the Decedent telephoned the Defendants’ Joliet office; or [f]ailed to timely 

schedule the Decedent to return to the office for an examination after the phone call on 

February 25, 2009.” (C 2201.) The barred testimony pertained to those theories. Plaintiff 
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would have testified that Mr. Steed reported his symptoms of tightness and achiness to 

Rezin Orthopedics on February 25, and that the receptionist merely instructed Mr. Steed 

to elevate his leg above his heart and ice the leg below his knee. (C 3149-52) (offer of 

proof).) This testimony falls squarely within the definition of hearsay, in that plaintiff 

proposed to offer it to prove the truth of her contention – that a receptionist received 

information that should have prompted further action. See generally, Leonardi v. Loyola 

University of Chicago, 168 Ill. 2d 83, 99 (1995).  

Plaintiff also argued that, even if hearsay, the testimony fell within the state of 

mind exception contained in Illinois Rules of Evidence 803(3), another argument the trial 

court properly rejected. (C 2599-2600.) Mr. Steed’s account of the February 25 

conversation did not bear on his intent to contact Rezin Orthopedics; by the time of the 

conversation with plaintiff, he already had called the clinic. The state of mind exception 

applies only to show the state of mind of the declarant of the hearsay statement, not the 

state of mind of the person who heard the hearsay statement, as plaintiff suggested to the 

trial court. (C 2599.) See People v. Cloutier, 178 Ill. 2d 141, 155 (1997). 

Regardless of the order in limine granting defendants’ motion no. 32, plaintiff 

presented the information to the jury by other means. The parties stipulated to the fact 

that Mr. Steed telephoned Rezin Orthopedics on February 25, 2009, and plaintiff’s 

counsel read the stipulation to the jury. (C 1231-32.) Circumventing the trial court’s order 

in limine, plaintiff repeatedly posed hypotheticals suggesting the content of the February 

25 conversation to the jury. During the testimony of Cheryl Haddon, an ortho tech who 

assisted in casting Mr. Steed, plaintiff posed several hypotheticals in which a patient 

called and reported a problem with a cast. (C 2679-87.) In a sidebar, the court observed 
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that plaintiff was improperly suggesting what was said during the barred conversation 

and instructed plaintiff to move on to another topic. (C 2685-87.)  

Plaintiff again attempted to circumvent the in limine order during Dr. Jimenez’ 

testimony, by inquiring what the standard of care required if Mr. Steed reported a tight 

cast to Rezin Orthopedics. (C 3027-33.) Despite the trial court’s rulings that repeatedly 

sustained objections to the questioning, the jury received the message: that Mr. Steed 

complained of pain and tightness in his cast and was not seen immediately. (C 3033.)  

Accordingly, not only did the trial court properly bar the hearsay testimony, 

plaintiff can establish no prejudice after disclosing the information to the jury through the 

testimony of her expert, Dr. Jimenez.  

C. No Error Occurred During Defense Counsel’s Closing Argument in 
Referencing Ms. Decker’s Testimony, and Plaintiff Sustained No 
Prejudice. 

On appeal, plaintiff presented a third basis for a new trial relating to the standard 

of care. The comments at issue are as follows: 

“So we heard from Jodi Decker. She testified on February 17th that she 
made the appointment for Mr. Steed to have his cast placed in accordance 
with Dr. Treacy’s instruction. His instruction was to have the cast placed 
in a day or two. Jodi Decker did that. She also said that scheduling with 
Mr. Steed was a little difficult. And we have evidence that - - so Jodi 
Decker got Mr. Steed to commit to the cast placement appointment with 
the intent that when he came back for the cast placement appointment, he 
would schedule the next follow-up visit.” (C 3255.) 

Plaintiff objected to the argument as misstating the evidence. (C 3255.) The trial 

court admonished the jury that closing argument is not evidence and that the jurors 

should disregard any argument that is inconsistent with the evidence. (C 3255.)  
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Plaintiff argued on appeal that the comment violated an order in limine granting 

plaintiff’s motion in limine no. 10. (Plaintiff’s brief at 23.) Plaintiff had requested the 

court to bar “argument, reference or inference by defense counsel as to why Decedent’s 

follow-up appointment with Dr. Treacy was set for March 13, 2009, along with certain 

testimony by Cast Tech Cheryl Haddon that the Decedent was a busy man….” (C 2138.) 

The trial court denied plaintiff’s motion to the extent she sought to bar evidence of 

custom and practice, but granted the motion in that the court would not permit guess and 

conjecture. (C 2415.)  

Defense counsel’s statement constituted a reasonable inference from Ms. 

Decker’s trial testimony, in which she testified to her routine custom and practice for 

scheduling follow-up appointments and, further, that she had no reason to believe that she 

had deviated from her custom and practice in scheduling Mr. Steed for casting on 

February 19 but did not set a later, two-week follow-up appointment. (C 2717-21.) Ms. 

Decker’s testimony supported the inference that, for some reason, she encountered 

difficulty in scheduling a post-casting follow-up appointment for Mr. Steed. Defense 

counsel did not exceed the wide latitude permitted in drawing reasonable inferences from 

evidence in this aspect of her closing argument. See McDonnell v. McPartlin, 192 Ill. 2d 

505, 524 (2000); see also Guski v. Raja, 409 Ill. App. 3d 686, 698 (1st Dist. 2001).  

A trial court can cure error in closing argument with a cautionary instruction. See 

Bruske v. Arnold, 44 Ill. 2d 132, 138 (1969); Wilson v. Humana Hospital, 399 Ill. App. 

3d 751, 759 (1st Dist. 2010). A court’s cautionary instruction renders misstatements of 

counsel harmless; a jury is presumed to follow a court’s instructions. See People v. 
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Simms, 192 Ill. 2d 348, 398 (2000). Here, the trial court’s admonition to the jury cured 

any possible error.  

Defense counsel’s isolated statement, considered in the context of a lengthy 

closing argument, as well as a seven-day trial, did not have deprive plaintiff of a fair trial. 

See Diaz v. Legal Architects, Inc., 397 Ill. App. 3d 13, 42 (1st Dist. 2009). The trial as a 

whole was fair, and the jury heard evidence sufficient to support its verdict for Rezin 

Orthopedics. See Grillo v. Yeager Construction, 387 Ill. App. 3d 577, 601 (1st Dist. 

2008).  

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, defendant-appellant, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, 

S.C., requests that this Honorable Court reverse the appellate court’s order and reinstate 

the circuit court’s judgment entered on the jury’s verdict.  

Dated:  March 3, 2020 
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VERDICT FORM B 

We, the jury, find for the Defendants, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, S.C., and 
Stephen H. Treacy, M.D., and against the Plaintiff, Susan Steed, independent administrator of the 
Estate of Glenn Steed, deceased. 
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_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

NOTICE: This order was filed under Supreme Court Rule 23 and may not be cited as 
precedent by any party except in the limited circumstances allowed under Rule 23(e)(1). 

2019 IL App (3d) 170299-U 

Order filed July 19, 2019 

IN THE 

APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 

THIRD DISTRICT 

2019 

SUSAN STEED, as Independent Administrator ) Appeal from the Circuit Court 
of the Estate of Glenn Steed, deceased, ) of the 12th Judicial Circuit, 

) Will County, Illinois, 
Plaintiff-Appellant, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) 
REZIN ORTHOPEDICS AND SPORTS ) 
MEDICINE, S.C., an Illinois Corporation  ) 
and STEPHEN H. TREACY, M.D.,   ) 

) Appeal No. 3-17-0299 
Defendants ) Circuit No. 10-L-340 

) 
(SUSAN STEED, as Independent Administrator ) 
of the Estate of Glenn Steed, deceased, ) 

) 
Plaintiff-Appellant, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) 
REZIN ORTHOPEDICS AND SPORTS ) 
MEDICINE, S.C., an Illinois Corporation, ) Honorable 

) Theodore J. Jarz, 
Defendant-Appellee). ) Judge, Presiding. 

JUSTICE LYTTON delivered the judgment of the court. 
Justices Holdridge and Wright concurred in the judgment. 
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ORDER 

¶ 1 Held: (1) Plaintiff is entitled to judgment n.o.v. on the issue of liability where evidence 
overwhelmingly established that orthopedic treatment facility was negligent in 
failing to schedule follow-up appointment as ordered by treating physician. 

¶ 2 Plaintiff, Susan Steed, as independent administrator of the Estate of Glenn Steed, filed 

suit against defendants, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, 

M.D., alleging medical negligence for failing to prevent a deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and 

resulting pulmonary embolism that caused Glenn’s death.  The jury returned a verdict in favor of 

both defendants.  Plaintiff filed a posttrial motion only challenging the verdict in favor of Rezin 

Orthopedics, which the trial court denied.  On appeal, she argues (1) that the trial court erred in 

denying her motion for judgment n.o.v. against Rezin Orthopedics and a new trial on the issue of 

damages only, or alternatively, a new trial on all the issues and (2) that she is entitled to a new 

trial based on the trial court’s admission of irrelevant and prejudicial evidence. 

¶ 3 BACKGROUND 

¶ 4 On January 29, 2009, Glenn Steed sustained an injury to his right leg and ankle while 

playing basketball with some co-workers. On February 17, 2009, he visited Rezin 

Orthopedics and Sports Medicine (Rezin Orthopedics) in Plainfield to address the 

discomfort he was still feeling in his lower leg.  Dr. Stephen Treacy, an orthopedic surgeon 

employed by Rezin Orthopedics, diagnosed Glenn with a partially torn Achilles tendon. Dr. 

Treacy's treatment plan included placing Glenn’s right leg in a cast with his foot pointed in a 

downward direction, a position called plantar flexion, for six weeks. He also ordered Glenn to 

return to the clinic in two weeks for a follow-up examination. The receptionist scheduled 

Glenn’s cast appointment for February 19, 2009, at the Joliet clinic. On February 19, Glenn had 

a plaster cast placed around his right leg. Before he left the office, a receptionist scheduled 
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Glenn’s follow-up appointment for March 13, 2009. The next day, Glenn complained to his 

wife that the position of his ankle in the cast was uncomfortable. On February 25, 2009, Glenn 

called the Joliet office, and a receptionist changed his follow-up appointment from March 13 

to March 12. On March 8, 2009, Glenn suffered a pulmonary embolism from a deep vein 

thrombosis (DVT)anddied. 

¶ 5 Susan Steed, Glenn’s wife and the administrator of his estate, filed suit against Rezin 

Orthopedics and Dr. Treacy alleging medical negligence. Susan claimed that Dr. Treacy was 

negligent in failing to schedule a timely follow-up appointment for Glenn. She also alleged that 

Rezin Orthopedics’ receptionists were negligent in failing to follow Dr. Treacy’s order and 

schedule Glenn’s follow-up appointment within two weeks and failing to schedule an immediate 

appointment for Glenn as a result of his February 25 phone call.  The complaint claimed that, 

had Glenn returned to Rezin Orthopedics on or before March 3, 2009, the DVT would have been 

diagnosed and the fatal pulmonary embolism would have been prevented.  

¶ 6 At trial, Dr. Treacy testified that on February 17, 2009, he told Glenn that he wanted to 

see him again in two weeks. It was Dr. Treacy’s custom and practice to note the date of a 

follow-up appointment on the bottom of a document referred to as a “super bill” and to give 

the super bill to the receptionist on duty at the end of every appointment. The receptionist 

would then schedule the appointment in accordance with Dr. Treacy’s instructions. 

¶ 7 Dr. Treacy did not place a cast on Glenn’s leg at the initial appointment on February 

17 because Glenn had driven himself to the appointment and could not drive home with a 

cast on his right leg. Instead, he ordered casting at a later date and a follow-up exam in two-

weeks. He wrote those instructions on the super bill and handed it to Jodi Decker, the Rezin 

Orthopedics receptionist on duty that day. Decker scheduled Glenn’s casting appointment 
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for February 19 at the Rezin Orthopedics office in Joliet. She did not schedule a follow-up 

appointment at that time. 

¶ 8 Decker testified that she was familiar with the protocol for scheduling patient follow-

up appointments. An order for a patient to return to be casted and an order to follow-up in 

two weeks are two instructions that Decker expected Dr. Treacy to write at the bottom of the 

super bill. Dr. Treacy gave Glenn’s super bill to Decker before Glenn left the Plainfield 

office. Decker stated that it was the custom and practice at Rezin Orthopedics to follow the 

instructions on the super bill.  It was also common practice to schedule the first appointment 

and then schedule the follow-up when the patient returned for the first appointment.  She 

scheduled the appointment for Glenn’s casting in Joliet and told him to check his calendar 

and schedule the follow-up appointment when he returned for casting. 

¶ 9 On February 19, 2009, Glenn reported to the Joliet office, and Dr. McNab, a 

podiatrist, placed a cast around Glenn’s right lower leg and ankle. At the conclusion of the 

February 19 appointment, Victoria Hare, another Rezin Orthopedics receptionist, scheduled 

Glenn’s follow-up appointment with Dr. Treacy for March 13, 2009. Hare testified that she 

had been a receptionist at Rezin Orthopedics for many years and throughout her years of 

service there was a protocol in place for how to schedule patients. All patients scheduled 

follow-up appointments with a receptionist. According to the protocol, receptionists were 

supposed to follow the doctor’s order and schedule patients to come back in accordance with 

the doctor’s instructions.  The practice in the office was to make an appointment for a date 

within the time frame the physician wrote at the bottom of the super bill. 

¶ 10 Before Glenn left the Joliet office, he also received written instructions on caring for 

his cast from Cheryl Hadden, the technician who assisted with the casting procedure. The 
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instructions advised him to report any changes to his cast, any tightness of his cast, and any 

marked swelling or pain in his leg. 

¶ 11 A day or two later, Glenn began experiencing some discomfort and achiness in his 

right leg. On February 24, he commented to his wife that his cast felt tight. The next day, on 

February 25, 2009, he called Rezin Orthopedics’ Joliet office and spoke with receptionist 

Rossana Popplewell. As a result of that phone call, Popplewell changed Glenn’s follow-up 

appointment from March 13 to March 12. 

¶ 12 Popplewell testified that she could not remember the content of her conversation with 

Glenn.  After reviewing her notes from that day, she stated that she changed the 

appointment from March 13 to March 12, but the only information she recorded as a 

reason for the change was “f/u cast.” She stated that “f/u” indicated that it was a follow-up 

appointment. She did not record any other information regarding Glenn’s phone call. She 

testified that every receptionist at Rezin Orthopedics was responsible for scheduling 

patients, and it was their responsibility to schedule patients in accordance with doctors’ 

orders. She also noted that, as a receptionist at Rezin Orthopedics, she was required to 

write down a message if a patient reported having an issue with his or her cast.  No message 

was produced relating to Glenn’s phone call. 

¶ 13 After the February 25 phone call, Glenn began icing the back of his right leg while his leg 

was elevated. At Susan's suggestion, he also started taking Aleve.  Susan testified that the 

combination of Aleve and elevation with ice made Glenn’s leg feel better but did not completely 

alleviate the symptoms. Late in the evening on Saturday, March 7, 2009, Glenn complained for 

the first time that he was experiencing pain in his right thigh. Glenn and Susan decided that 

Glenn should telephone Rezin Orthopedics first thing on Monday morning. On Sunday morning, 
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Susan woke and found Glenn lying on the floor, unresponsive.  He died as a result of a 

pulmonary embolism from a DVT that originated in his right calf. 

¶ 14 Susan presented the expert testimony of Dr. Mathew Jiminez, a board certified orthopedic 

surgeon. He testified that during Glenn’s February 17 examination, he presented several risk 

factors for DVT. Glenn was older than 40, with an elevated body mass index and an injury to 

the leg that required a cast. Because of these factors, it was Jiminez’s opinion that the standard 

of care applicable to both Dr. Treacy and Rezin Orthopedics required them to set his follow-up 

appointment for two weeks from his initial appointment. He testified that a three-and-a-half-

week appointment from the date of casting was not within the standard of care. 

¶ 15 Dr. Treacy testified that the professional standard of care did not require him to schedule 

Glenn’s follow-up appointment for two weeks after his first visit. In his opinion, the applicable 

standard of care permitted the follow-up visit to be schedule for three or even four weeks after 

Glenn’s first appointment. 

¶ 16 Dr. Michael Pinzur, an orthopedic surgeon and the quality medical director at Loyola 

Hospital, testified as an expert witness on defendants’ behalf. Part of Pinzur’s duties at Loyola 

included designing a plan for reducing blood clots for patients within the hospital. He opined 

that the professional standard of care did not require Rezin Orthopedics to schedule Glenn’s 

follow-up appointment for two weeks after the date of his first visit. He testified that Rezin 

Orthopedics could have scheduled the following appointment for three-and-a-half weeks, rather 

than two weeks as Dr. Treacy had ordered, and it still would have been within the standard of 

care. According to Pinzur, it would have been within the applicable standard of care for Rezin 

Orthopedics to schedule the follow-up appointment anytime between four and six weeks after 

the date of Glenn’s initial visit with Dr. Treacy. 
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¶ 17 Dr. Jeffery Huml, a board certified physician in internal and pulmonary medicine, testified 

as an expert regarding the science of a DVT.  He stated that pain or tightness in a leg that is in a 

cast might be indicative of a DVT and should be examined immediately. He testified that 

patients at a higher risk of developing a DVT are ones who suffered a fracture or have undergone 

surgery and are obese, extremely old, or have a family history of blood clots. Since Glenn did not 

exhibit any of these conditions, Huml opined that he was not at high risk for developing a DVT. 

¶ 18 Dr. Jacob Bitran specializes in internal and hematology medicine and was another 

expert witness called by defendants. He also testified that Glenn was a low risk patient for 

the development of a DVT. He stated that from a hematological standpoint, Glenn had been 

appropriately treated for the development of a DVT. He also testified that Glenn’s 

pulmonary embolism formed from a clot that originated in his right lower leg as a result of 

the plaster cast treatment.  He noted that when a DVT is diagnosed, it is easily treated and 

further complications are preventable. 

¶ 19 Susan presented Illinois Pattern Jury Instructions, Civil, No. 20.01 (2006), to the 

jury. In relevant part, the instruction alleged that Rezin Orthopedics was negligent in one or 

more of the following ways: 

“Failed to schedule the Decedent for a follow-up appointment in two weeks 

from February 17, 2009, in accordance with Dr. Stephen H. Treacy’s order; 

Failed to notify any physician or physician’s assistant on February 25, 

2009, after the Decedent telephoned the Defendants’ Joliet office; or 

Failed to timely schedule the Decedent to return to the office for an 

examination after the phone call on February 25th, 2009.” 

A 10
SUBMITTED - 8718807 - Patrice Serritos - 3/3/2020 8:13 PM

125150



 

           

 

       

  

     

  

    

  

      

     

              

           

      

     

 

      

           

      

     

     

      

The instruction also stated that Susan alleged “one or more of [the negligent acts] was a 

proximate cause of her damages.” 

¶ 20 The trial court denied Susan's proposed jury instruction regarding a directed finding. 

That instruction provided: 

"The court has determined that the Defendant, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 

Medicine, S.C., is negligent for failing to schedule the Decedent for a 

follow-up appointment in two weeks from February 17, 2009, in 

accordance with the Dr. Stephen H. Treacy’s order. This is not an issue 

you will need to decide." 

¶ 21 The jury returned a general verdict in favor of Rezin Orthopedics and Dr. Treacy. 

Susan filed a posttrial motion, requesting judgment n.o.v. in her favor and against Rezin 

Orthopedics and a new trial on the issue of damages only or, in the alternative, a new trial on 

all issues. The motion did not request any relief regarding the judgment entered in favor of 

Dr. Treacy. In her motion, Susan also argued that she was entitled to a new trial based on the 

trial court’s admission of irrelevant and prejudicial evidence.  The trial court denied Susan’s 

motion, and she appeals. 

¶ 22 ANALYSIS 

¶ 23 Susan contends that the trial court erred in failing to enter judgment n.o.v and order a new 

trial on the issue of damages only based on the court's prejudicial error in denying her motion for 

a directed finding on defendant's negligence.  She claims that judgment n.o.v. should be entered 

against Rezin Orthopedics on the issue of liability because the evidence, when viewed in the 

light most favorable to Rezin Orthopedics, so overwhelmingly favors her that a contrary verdict 
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cannot stand.  She asks us to reverse the trial court’s denial of her motion and remand for a new 

trial on the issue of damages only, or in the alternative, remand for a new trial on all the issues. 

¶ 24 A directed verdict or a judgment n.o.v. should only be entered where the evidence, when 

viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, so overwhelmingly favors the movant 

that no contrary verdict based upon the evidence could ever stand. Pedrick v. Peoria & Eastern 

R.R. Co., 37 Ill. 2d 494, 510 (1967). We review de novo a trial court's decision on a motion for a 

directed verdict or judgment n.o.v. McClure v. Owens Corning Fiberglas Corp., 188 Ill. 2d 102, 

132 (1999).  In ruling on a motion for judgment n.o.v., the trial court does not weigh the 

evidence, nor is it concerned with the credibility of witnesses. See Pedrick, 37 Ill. 2d at 510. A 

judgment n.o.v. is improper where there is any evidence, together with reasonable inferences to 

be drawn therefrom, demonstrating a substantial factual dispute, or where witness credibility or a 

resolution of conflicting evidence is decisive of the outcome. Maple v. Gustafson, 151 Ill. 2d 

445, 454 (1992).  

¶ 25 In an action for negligence against a health care provider, a plaintiff must show (1) the 

applicable standard of care, (2) that the health care provider deviated from that standard of care, 

and (3) that the deviation was the proximate cause of plaintiff’s injury.  Neade v. Portes, 193 Ill. 

2d 433, 443-44 (2000). A health care provider may be found liable in a negligence case based 

on two separate theories: (1) liability for its own “institutional” negligence; and (2) vicarious 

liability for the professional negligence of its agents or employees. Groeller v. Evergreen 

Healthcare Center LLC, 2015 IL App (1st) 140932, ¶ 22 (noting the application of institutional 

liability theory to hospitals and nursing homes). In cases alleging health care facility negligence, 

our supreme court has noted that health care facilities have an independent duty to assume 

responsibility for the care of their patients. See Darling v. Charleston Community Memorial 
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Hospital, 33 Ill. 2d 326, 332 (1965); Jones v. Chicago HMO Ltd. of Illinois, 191 Ill. 2d 278, 295 

(2000).  An institutional duty of care involves the facility’s management and administrative 

responsibilities, rather than medical responsibilities, to enforce rules and policies “adopted by the 

[facility] to insure a smoothly run [facility] routine and adequate patient care and under which 

the physicians have agreed to operate.” Johnson v. St. Bernard Hospital, 79 Ill. App. 3d 709, 

718 (1979). 

¶ 26 To fulfill this duty, a treating health care facility must act as would a “reasonably careful” 

health care provider under the circumstances. Advincula v. United Blood Services, 176 Ill. 2d 1, 

29 (1996). This duty has been found based on claims that a health care facility (1) failed to 

require treatment and consultation by specialists and failed to review physicians’ qualifications 

(Andrews v. Northwestern Memorial Hospital, 184 Ill. App. 3d 486, 489 (1989) (reasonably 

careful duty applied to hospitals)), and (2) failed to properly monitor and attend to the care of a 

patient (Groeller, 2015 IL App (1st) 140932, ¶ 22 (reasonable careful duty applied to nursing 

homes)). Whether a health care facility is reasonably careful in its administrative duties may be 

shown by a variety of evidence, including (1) expert testimony, (2) the custom and practice of a 

health care facility, and (3) the rules and regulations of a health care provider.  Darling, 33 Ill. 2d 

at 331-32; Andrews, 184 Ill. App. 3d at 494.   

¶ 27 Here, the evidence regarding the standard of care of a reasonably careful orthopedic 

facility was clear. A reasonably careful orthopedic facility under the circumstances was required 

to schedule patient follow-up appointments as instructed in the super bill.  Dr. Treacy and three 

Rezin Orthopedics receptionists testified that it was Dr. Treacy’s custom and practice to write the 

date of a follow-up appointment on the bottom of the super bill and deliver the super bill to the 

receptionist on duty at the end of every appointment.  Dr. Treacy testified that it was his custom 
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and practice to note the date of the follow up appointment and then it was up to the receptionist 

to schedule the appointment in accordance with his instructions.  He stated that he ordered Glenn 

to return within two weeks of casting, wrote those instructions on the super bill, and handed the 

super bill to Decker. Decker agreed with Treacy’s assessment of the facility’s policy regarding 

follow-up appointments.  She acknowledged that Treacy ordered a two-week follow-up exam for 

Glenn, but she did not schedule the appointment. Instead, receptionist Hare scheduled the 

appointment after Glenn received his cast two days later. Hare testified that it was her 

responsibility, as with other receptionists, to schedule patient appointments and take patient 

phone calls.  She also acknowledged that it was the custom and practice of the office to schedule 

follow-up appointments for two weeks after casting, as ordered by the physician.  She did not 

schedule Glenn within that time frame. Finally, Popplewell, the receptionist who answered 

Glenn’s phone call, concurred that the protocol for all receptionists was to schedule patients for 

follow-up appointments as directed in the super bill.  Thus, Susan met her burden of proving the 

standard of care applicable to Rezin Orthopedics in the management and administration of 

patient care.  

¶ 28 The evidence established, through physician testimony, office protocol, administrative 

scheduling documents and custom and practice, that the standard of care of a “reasonably 

careful” treating institution was to follow the written order on the super bill.  That evidence was 

not contradicted.  The evidence also demonstrated that Rezin Orthopedics breached the standard 

of care.  The super bill instructed the receptionists to schedule the appointment for two weeks 

from February 19, and the receptionists did not schedule the appointment within that two-week 

window.  No one testified that Rezin Orthopedics scheduled or attempted to schedule the follow-

up appointment between February 19 and March 3.  Because there is no evidence demonstrating 
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a factual dispute, the trial court erred in denying Susan’s motion for judgment n.o.v. on the issue 

of Rezin Orthopedics liability. 

¶ 29 Rezin Orthopedics claims judgment n.o.v. is not appropriate because the record contains 

sufficient evidence to support a finding that it was within the standard of care to schedule a 

follow-up appointment within four weeks of casting an Achilles tear. The record contains 

evidence indicating that a follow-up appointment scheduled two to six weeks from the date of 

casting was within the professional standard of care.  But the issue on appeal is not whether a 

directed verdict on the issue of negligence is appropriate against Dr. Treacy—a question that 

would involve consideration of the professional standard of care.  We have been asked to 

evaluate whether a verdict should have been entered against Rezin Orthopedics.  That question 

requires the assessment of a general standard of care based on a reasonably careful orthopedic 

facility.  That standard of care was established by plaintiff, and defendant presented no evidence 

to refute it. Based on the standard of care applied to an orthopedic treatment facility, all the 

evidence as to Rezin Orthopedics’ negligence so overwhelmingly favors plaintiff that no verdict 

for defendant could ever stand.   

¶ 30 In this case, however, the jury returned a general verdict for Rezin Orthopedics.  When a 

jury enters a general verdict for defendant, we do not know the basis for its finding of no 

liability.  See Maple, 151 Ill. 2d at 449.  We do not know whether the jury entered the verdict in 

favor of defendant because it found that Rezin Orthopedics did not breach the standard of care or 

because it found no causal connection between Glenn’s death and the failure to schedule the 

appointment as instructed.  Thus, although we agree that the evidence at trial overwhelmingly 

established that Rezin Orthopedics breached the standard of care, we must also evaluate 
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proximate cause. See generally Neade, 193 Ill. 2d at 443-44 (plaintiff must establish standard of 

care, breach, and proximate cause). 

¶ 31 Here, the evidence presented at trial showed that if Glenn had returned to the clinic in 

two weeks, his DVT would have likely been diagnosed and treated.  Both Dr. Bitran and Dr. 

Huml testified that the pulmonary embolism that resulted in Glenn’s death formed from a clot 

that originated in Glenn’s casted leg.  Evidence from both parties’ experts also revealed that a 

DVT is easily diagnosed and treatable. Susan testified that Glenn experienced discomfort and 

swelling shortly after he was fitted for the cast on February 19.  Treacy ordered a follow-up visit 

for two weeks, and Rezin Orthopedics scheduled his follow up appointment for March 13, a date 

more than three weeks after casting. Glenn suffered a pulmonary embolism and died on March 

8. The record before us demonstrates that defendant’s negligence was a proximate cause of 

Glenn’s death. 

¶ 32 We recognize that the standard for entry of judgment n.o.v. is a high one and is not 

appropriate if “ ‘reasonable minds might differ as to inferences or conclusions to be drawn from 

the facts presented.’ ” See York v. Rush-Presbyterian-St. Luke’s Medical Center, 222 Ill. 2d 147, 

178 (2006) (quoting Pasquale v. Speed Products Engineering, 166 Ill. 2d 337, 351 (1995)). 

However, in this case, the evidence and inferences, when viewed in a light most favorable to 

Rezin Orthopedics, so overwhelmingly favor Susan that no contrary verdict can stand. 

Accordingly, we reverse and remand with directions to enter judgment in favor of Susan on the 

issue of liability and to hold a new trial on the issue of damages only. See Wiggins v. Bonsack, 

2014 IL App (5th) 130123, ¶ 27; Hickox v. Erwin, 101 Ill. App. 3d 585, 590 (1981) (reversing 

and remanding with directions to enter judgment in favor of plaintiff and hold new trial only on 

issue of damages where evidence of proximate cause was overwhelming). 
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¶ 33 Based on our determination of the first issue, we need not address Susan’s alternative 

request for a new trial based on the prejudicial impact of the trial court’s evidentiary rulings. 

¶ 34 CONCLUSION 

¶ 35 The judgment of the circuit court of Will County is reversed and remanded with 

directions to enter judgment against Rezin Orthopedics and hold a new trial on the issue of 

damages. 

¶ 36 Reversed and remanded with directions. 
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FIRST DISTRICT OFFICE
160 North LaSalle Street, 20th Floor
Chicago, IL 60601-3103
(312) 793-1332
TDD: (312) 793-6185

Karen Kies DeGrand
Donohue Brown Mathewson & Smyth LLC 
140 South Dearborn St., Suite 800 
Chicago, IL 60603

In re: Steed v. Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine, S.C.
125150

Today the following order was entered in the captioned case:

Motion by Petitioner for an extension of time for filing a Petition for Leave 
to Appeal to and including September 27, 2019. Allowed.  

Order entered by Justice Kilbride.

 

Very truly yours,
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cc: Appellate Court, Third District
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Stephen Allen Rehfeldt
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Clerk of the Supreme Court
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 Exhibit B – Dr. Treacy’s February 17, 2009 
office note 

 C 1052 

 Exhibit C – Deposition of Dr. Treacy  C 1053-C 1069 
 Exhibit D – Defendants’ Second 
Supplemental Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 
213(f) 

 C 1070-C 1076 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

07/17/2015 C 1077 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Bar the Defendants’ Medical 
Experts, Dr. Pinzur, Dr. Bitran, and Dr. Treacy, for 
the Defendants’ Failure to Produce these Experts 
for Discovery Deposition and Respond to 
Deposition Rider for Dr. Pinzur 

07/17/2015 C 1078-C 1083 

 Exhibit A – May 29, 2015 Order  C 1084 
 Exhibit B – February 6, 2015 Order  C 1085 
 Exhibit C – August 5, 2014 Order  C 1086 
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Document Date Page 
 Exhibit D – Defendants’ Second 
Supplemental Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 
213(f) 

 C 1087-C 1094 

 Exhibit E – Defendants’ Third 
Supplemental Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 
213(f) 

 C 1095-C 1097 

 Exhibit F – October 31, 2014 Order  C 1098 
 Exhibit G – Series of email correspondence 
requesting dates for deposition of Dr. 
Treacy 

 C 1099-C 1114 

Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Filing by Mail and Certificate of Service 

07/27/2015 C 1115 

Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s Motion to Bar 
Defendants’ Medical Experts, Dr. Pinzur, Dr. 
Bitran, and Dr. Treacy, for the Defendants’ Failure 
to Produce these Experts for Discovery Deposition 
and Respond to Deposition Rider for Dr. Pinzur 

 C 1116-C 1119 

 Exhibit A – July 17, 2015 Order  C 1120 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

07/28/2015 C 1121 

Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants’ Motion to 
Quash Notice for Supplemental Deposition of Dr. 
Stephen Treacy or in the Alternative for Entry of 
Protective Order 

07/28/2015 C 1122-C 1126 

 Exhibit A – Underlined Portions of 
Opinions Disclosed by Dr. Treacy 

 C 1127 

 Exhibit B – Rule 213(f) disclosure of Dr. 
Treacy effective at time of discovery 
deposition 

 C 1128-C 1129 

Order 08/06/2015 C 1130 
Court Order 08/11/2015 C 1131 
Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Motion and Certificate of Service 

08/21/2015 C 1132 

Defendants’ Motion for Extension of Time 08/21/2015 C 1133-C 1134 
Court Order 08/28/2015 C 1135 
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Document Date Page 
Court Order 09/17/2015 C 1136 
Court Order 09/30/2015 C 1137 
Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Filing and Certificate of Service 

09/30/2015 C 1138 

Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiff’s Objections 
and to Compel Responses to Defendants’ 
Supplemental Request to Produce 

09/30/2015 C 1139-C 1144 

 Exhibit A – Defendants’ Second 
Supplemental Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 
213(f) 

 C 1145-C 1151 

 Exhibit B – Defendant’s Third 
Supplemental Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 
213(f) 

 C 1152-C 1154 

 Exhibit C – January 15, 2015 
Correspondence and Email 

 C 1155-C 1156 

 Exhibit D – Defendants’ Supplemental 
Request to Produce 

 C 1157-C 1158 

 Exhibit E – Plaintiff’s Response to 
Defendants’ Supplemental Request to 
Produce 

 C 1159-C 1161 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

10/16/2015 C 1162 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Defendants to 
Produce the Standards Relied upon by their 
Controlled Expert Witness, Dr. Michael S. Pinzur, 
or in the Alternative, to Disqualify Dr. Pinzur’s 
Testimony 

10/16/2015 C 1163-C 1167 

 Exhibit A – 10/24/2014 Notice of 
Deposition with Production Rider 

 C 1168 

 Exhibit B – Defendant’s Response to 
Deposition Rider for deposition of Dr. 
Michael Pinzur 

 C 1169-C 1189 

 Exhibit C – Deposition of Dr. Pinzur  C 1190-C 1211 
 Exhibit D – 09/28/2015 Letter from 
Plaintiff’s Counsel to Defense Counsel 

 C 1212-C 1213 
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Document Date Page 
 Exhibit E – 10/07/2015 Defense Counsel 
Response Letter 

 C 1214 

Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Filing and Certificate of Service 

11/06/2015 C 1216-C 1217 

Defendants’ Reply in Support of Their Motion to 
Strike Plaintiff’s Objections and to Compel 
Responses to Defendants’ Supplemental Request to 
Produce 

11/06/2015 C 1218-C 1224 

Court Order 11/20/2015 C 1225 
Court Order 11/20/2015 C 1226 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 1227 

Report of Proceedings 11/03/2016 C 1228-C 1479 
 Witness: Victoria Hare   
  Direct Examination by Ms. Levin  C 1233 
  Direct Examination by Ms. De Falco  C 1263 
  Redirect Examination by Ms. Levin  C 1274 

 Exhibit C – “Cross-Examination of Medical 
Experts with Authoritative Texts: Getting it 
in” 

 C 1515-C 1517 

 Exhibit D – Transcript of Report of 
Proceedings from November 20, 2015 
Hearing 

 C 1518-C 1534 

 Exhibit E – November 20, 2015 Order  C 1535-C 1536 
Plaintiff’s Re-Notice of Motion and Proof of 
Service 

03/03/2016 C 1537 

Plaintiff’s Motion for Clarification on the Court’s 
11/20/15 Ruling on Defendants’ Motion to Strike 
Plaintiff’s Objections and to Compel Responses to 
Defendants’ Supplemental Request to Produce 

03/03/2016 C 1538-C 1542 

 Exhibit A – Defendants’ Motion to Strike 
and Compel 

 C 1543-C 1566 
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Document Date Page 
 Exhibit B – Plaintiff’s Response to 
Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiff’s 
Objections and to Compel Responses to 
Defendants’ Supplemental Request to 
Produce 

 C 1567-C 1571 

 Exhibit C – “Cross-Examination of Medical 
Experts with Authoritative Texts: Getting it 
in” 

 C 1572-C 1574 

 Exhibit D – Transcript of Report of 
Proceedings from November 20, 2015 
Hearing 

 C 1575-C 1591 

 Exhibit E – November 20, 2015 Order  C 1592-C 1593 
Order 03/09/2016 C 1594 
Court Order 03/15/2016 C 1595 
Order 03/21/2016 C 1596-C 1600 
Court Order 04/15/2106 C 1601 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

05/27/2016 C 1602-C 1603 

Plaintiff’s Notice to Produce Under Rule 237 to 
Defendant, Stephen H. Treacy, M.D. 

05/27/2016 C 1604-C 1607 

Plaintiff’s Notice to Produce Under Rule 237 to 
Defendant, Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C., an Illinois Corporation 

05/27/2016 C 1608-C 1611 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Motion and Proof of Service 05/27/2016 C 1612 
Plaintiff’s Joint Motion of the Parties to Strike the 
6/20/16 Trial Date and to Reschedule the Trial Date 
to 7/14/16 

05/27/2016 C 1613-C 1614 

Court Order 06/03/2016 C 1615 
Court Order 06/17/2016 C 1616 
Court Order 06/27/2016 C 1617 
Defendants’ Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

08/14/2012 C 1618 

Court Order 10/21/2016 C 1619 
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Document Date Page 
Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Emergency Motion and Certificate of 
Service 

10/21/2016 C 1620-C 1621 

Defendants’ Emergency Motion for Assignment to 
an Available Judge for Trial or in the Alternative to 
Reset Trial Date 

10/21/2016 C 1622-C 1624 

Court Order 10/24/2016 C 1625 
Defendant Dr. Stephen H. Treacy’s Motion for 
Substitution of Judge 

10/24/2016 C 1626 

Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Notice of Filing and Certificate of Service 

10/26/2016 C 1627-C 1628 

Defendants’ Motions in Limine #1 Through #8 10/26/2016 C 1629-C 1630 
Defendants’ Motion in Limine #9 to Bar Use of 
Autopsy Photographs 

10/26/2016 C 1631-C 1634 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #10 to Bar Use of 
Schoolwork or Artwork of Olivia Steed 

10/26/2016 C 1635-C 1638 

 Exhibit A – Three Pieces of Artwork or 
Schoolwork created or written by Olivia 
Steed 

 C 1639-C 1641 

 Exhibit B – February 3, 2014 
Correspondence disclosing Olivia Steed as 
trial witness 

 C 1642 

 Exhibit C – Plaintiff’s Amended Answers to 
Defendants 213(f)(1) & (2) Interrogatories 

 C 1643-C 1646 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #11 to Bar Claim 
for Survival Damages 

10/26/2016 C 1647-C 1651 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Fourth Amended 
Complaint at Law 

 C 1652-C 1668 

 Exhibit B – Deposition of Susan Steed  C 1669-C 1671 
Defendants’ Motion in Limine #12 to Bar 
Reference to Other Lawsuits 

10/26/2016 C 1672-C 1674 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #13 to Bar 
Reference to Insurance 

10/26/2016 C 1675-C 1677 
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Document Date Page 
Defendants’ Motion in Limine #14 to Bar Certain 
Issues from Voir Dire 

10/26/2016 C 1678-C 1680 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #15 to Bar Medical 
Hearsay Testimony 

10/26/2016 C 1681-C 1683 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #16 to Bar 
Reference to “Safety” or “Expense” as Standard of 
Care 

10/26/2016 C 1684-C 1689 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1690-C 1694 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #17 to Exclude 
Evidence of Whether a Physician would have 
Treated Plaintiff’s Decedent Differently 

10/26/2016 C 1695-C 1698 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1699-C 1704 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #18 to Bar 
Testimony of Dr. Matthew Jimenez Which 
References “Thought Leaders” 

10/26/2016 C 1705-C 1708 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1709-C 1710 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #19 for 
Determination as to Competency of Olivia Steed to 
Testify  

10/26/2016 C 1711-C 1713 

 Exhibit A – February 3, 2014 
Correspondence disclosing Olivia Steed as 
trial witness 

 C 1714 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #20 to Bar 
Affirmative Use of Medical Literature  

10/26/2016 C 1715-C 1718 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1719-C 1722 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #21 to Bar Certain 
Comments and Opinions of Dr. Matthew Jimenez 

10/26/2016 C 1723-C 1726 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1727-C 1736 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #22 to Bar Use of 
Handwritten Note and Valentine’s Day Card 

10/26/2016 C 1737-C 1741 

 Exhibit A – March 3, 2009 Note  C 1742 
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Document Date Page 
 Exhibit B – Valentine’s Day card dated 
February 14, 2009 

 C 1743 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #23 to Testimony of 
Stan Smith Placing Monetary Value on Loss of 
Household/Family Advice, Counsel, Guidance, 
Instruction and Training Services and Loss of 
Household/Family Accompaniment Services 

10/26/2016 C 1744-C 1749 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Supplemental 
Answers to Defendants’ Illinois Supreme 
Court Rule 213(f)(3) Interrogatories 

 C 1750-C 1788 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #24 to Bar Susan 
Steed from Testifying as to Statements made by 
Grundy County Coroner 

10/26/2016 C 1789-C 1791 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Susan 
Steed 

 C 1792-C 1795 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #25 to Bar Plaintiff 
from Examining Current and Former Employees of 
Rezin Orthopedics as Adverse Witnesses 

10/26/2016 C 1796-C 1798 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #26 to Bar Use of 
Padua Prediction Score or Caprini Risk Assessment 
Scale 

10/26/2016 C 1799-C 1806 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Huml 

 C 1807-C 1818 

 Exhibit B – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Bitran 

 C 1819-C 1820 

 Exhibit C – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Pinzur 

 C 1821-C 1826 

 Exhibit D – A Risk Assessment Model for 
the Identification of Hospitalized Medical 
Patients at Risk for Venous 
Thromboembolism: the Padua Prediction 
Score 

 C 1827-C 1838 

 Exhibit E – Thrombosis Risk Assessment as 
a Guide to Quality Patient Care  

 C 1839-C 1849 

 Exhibit F – A Validation Study of 
Retrospective Venous Thromboembolism 
Risk Scoring Method 

 C 1850-C 1856 
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Document Date Page 
Defendants’ Motion in Limine #27 to Bar 
Questioning Regarding Presuit Record Production 

10/26/2016 C 1857-C 1860 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Mary 
Vogt 

 C 1861-C 1884 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #28 to Bar 
Reference to Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine not Sending Plaintiff to Collections 

10/26/2016 C 1885-C 1887 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #29 to Bar Inference 
that Opinions of Dr. Stephen Treacy were not 
Timely Disclosed 

10/26/2016 C 1888-C 1891 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Treacy 

 C 1892-C 1895 

Defendant Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine’s Motion in Limine #30 to Bar Opinion 
of Dr. Jimenez Regarding Retention of Superbill 

10/26/2016 C 1896-C 1900 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Fourth Amended 
Complaint 

 C 1901-C 1917 

 Exhibit B – Deposition testimony of 
Patricia Drescher 

 C 1918-C 1922 

 Exhibit C – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Treacy 

 C 1923-C 1932 

 Exhibit D – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 1933-C 1935 

Defendant Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine’s Motion in Limine #31 to Preclude 
Evidence Regarding the Destruction of Superbill 

10/26/2016 C 1936-C 1940 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Fourth Amended 
Complaint at Law 

 C 1941-C 1957 

 Exhibit B – Deposition testimony of 
Patricia Drescher 

 C 1958-C 1961 

 Exhibit C – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Treacy 

 C 1962-C 1971 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #32 to Bar Susan 
Steed from Testifying as to Content of February 25, 
2009 Telephone Call as Hearsay 

10/26/2016 C 1972-C 1977 

 Exhibit A – Deposition testimony of Susan 
Steed 

 C 1978-C 1984 
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Document Date Page 
Defendants’ Motion in Limine #33 to Bar Use of 
Video Clips and Photographs 

10/31/2016 C 1985-C 1989 

 Exhibits 1-10 – Photographs of Olivia Steed  C 1990-C 1999 
 Exhibits 11-23 – Photographs of Susan 
Steed with Glenn Steed or of Glenn Steed 

 C 2000-C 2012 

 Exhibit 24 – Plaintiff’s Response to 
Defendants Production Request 

 C 2013-C 2017 

Defendants Rezin Orthopedics and Sports 
Medicine, S.C. and Stephen H. Treacy, M.D.’s 
Brief in Support of Defendants’ Motion in Limine 
#32 to Bar Susan Steed from Testifying as to the 
Content of February 25, 2009 Telephone Call as 
Hearsay 

10/31/2016 C 2018-C 2025 

Defendants’ Citation to Deposition Testimony as 
Additional Support of Motion in Limine #21 to Bar 
Certain Comments and Opinions of Dr. Matthew 
Jimenez 

10/31/2016 C 2026-C 2027 

Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s Motion in 
Limine Number 10 Regarding Application of Dead 
Man’s Act 

10/31/2016 C 2028-C 2031 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Fourth Amended 
Complaint at Law 

 C 2032-C 2036 

 Exhibit B – Deposition testimony of Jodi 
Decker 

 C 2037-C 2038 

 Exhibit C – Deposition testimony of 
Victoria Hare 

 C 2039-C 2040 

 Exhibit D – Plaintiff’s Answer to Rule 
213(f)(3) Interrogatories 

 C 2041-C 2043 

 Exhibit E – Deposition testimony of Dr. 
Jimenez 

 C 2044-C 2049 

Defendants’ Motion in Limine #34 to Bar 
“Disclosure” in Correspondence of April 29, 2016 
and May 2, 2016 

10/31/2016 C 2050-C 2054 

 Exhibit A – April 15, 2016 Order  C 2055 
 Exhibit B – April 29, 2016 Correspondence  C 2056-C 2061 
 Exhibit C – May 2, 2016 Correspondence  C 2062 
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Document Date Page 
Order to Permit Attorneys to Bring Cellular 
Telephones, Electronic Devices and/or Other 
Equipment into Court 

11/02/2016 C 2063-C 2065 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

11/08/2016 C 2066 

Plaintiff’s Trial Brief in Support of Admitting 
Certain Testimony of Susan Steed 

11/08/2016 C 2067-C 2077 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

11/08/2016 C 2078 

Plaintiff’s Trial Brief in Further Support of Motion 
in Limine No. 10, To Allow the Plaintiff to Invoke 
the Dead-Man’s Act by Occurrence, Including the 
Different Scheduling Encounters 

11/08/2016 C 2079-C 2105 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

11/08/2016 C 2106 

Plaintiff’s Response to the Defendants’ Motion in 
Limine No. 21 to Bar Certain Comments and 
Opinions of Dr. Matthew Jimenez 

11/08/2016 C 2107-C 2109 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

11/08/2016 C 2110 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 1-To Bar the 
Following Improper Arguments by Defense 
Attorneys 

11/08/2016 C 2111-C 2115 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 2-To Enfore the 
Collateral Source Doctrine as to Life Insurance, 
Social Security, and Health Insurance Benefits 

11/08/2016 C 2116-C 2118 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 3-To Bar 
Witnesses in Court 

11/08/2016 C 2119-C 2120 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 4-To Bar Mention 
of Susan Steed’s Early Retention of Counsel or 
Reference to Settlement Discussions or Demands 

11/08/2016 C 2121-C 2123 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 5-To Bar 
Evidence of Wealth or Poverty 

11/08/2016 C 2124-C 2125 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 6-To Bar Mention 
that Glenn Steed’s Family Treated with Dr. Treacy 
or Rezin Orthopedics and Sports Medicine 

11/08/2016 C 2126-C 2127 
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Document Date Page 
Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 7-To Bar 
Argument or Inference that the Conduct of a 
Nonparty Physician was the Cause of the 
Decedent’s Injury or Death or that the Plaintiff 
Failed to Sue some Nonparty Physician 

11/08/2016 C 2128-C 2130 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 8-To Bar 
Argument or Inference that the Plaintiff Failed to 
Call a Nonparty Witness to Testify 

11/08/2016 C 2131-C 2133 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 9-To Bar 
Questioning of the Plaintiff’s Medical Expert, Dr. 
Matthew Jimenez, Regarding his Medical 
Malpractice Lawsuits 

11/08/2016 C 2134-C 2137 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 10-To Bar the 
Defendants from Testifying why the Decedent’s 
Follow-up Appointment with Dr. Treacy was set 
for March 13, 2009, Along with Certain Testimony 
by Cast Tech Cheryl Haddon that the Decedent was 
a Busy Man 

11/08/2016 C 2138-C 2145 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 11-To Bar 
Allegations of Contributory Negligence or a Failure 
to Mitigate Damages  

11/08/2016 C 2146-C 2150 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 12-To Bar 
Testimony that the Standard of Care Allowed for a 
Follow-up Appointment Later than Two Weeks  

11/08/2016 C 2151-C 2156 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 13-To Bar the 
Coroner’s Report as Hearsay and Also Certain 
Testimony of the Coroner Regarding his 
Investigation 

11/08/2016 C 2157-C 2160 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 14-To Bar 
Defendants’ Use of Authoritative Literature 

11/08/2016 C 2161-C 2163 

Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine No. 15-To Bar 
Defendants from Calling all Four of their Experts 
Based on the Cumulative Nature of their Proffered 
Testimony, and to Bar Drs. Huml and Bitran from 
Offering Standard of Care Opinions 

11/08/2016 C 2164-C 2166 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

11/08/2016 C 2167-C 2168 

Court Order 11/10/2016 C 2169 
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Document Date Page 
Juror Questions 11/10/2016 C 2170 
Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1 – Stipulation of the Parties 
Regarding Records of Telephone Calls 

11/10/2016 C 2171-C 2172 

Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4A – Record of Telephone Calls 11/10/2016 C 2173 
Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4B – Record of Telephone Calls 11/10/2016 C 2174 
Jury Verdict 11/10/2016 C 2175 
Jury Instructions  11/10/2016 C 2176-C 2213 
Jury Voir Dire Sheet 11/14/2016 C 2214 
Post-Trial Motion Briefing Schedule Order 12/08/2016 C 2215 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Motion and Proof of Service 01/18/2017 C 2216 
Plaintiff’s Motion to Extend Time to File her Post-
Trial Motion 

01/18/2017 C 2217-C 2218 

Post-Trial Motion Briefing Schedule Order 01/20/2017 C 2219 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 2220-C 2221 

Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Support of her Motion 
for JNOV against Rezin Orthopedics and a New 
Trial on Damages Only, or in the Alternative, a 
New Trial on all Issues against Rezin Orthopedics 

02/10/2017 C 2222-C 2246 

 Exhibit A – Plaintiff’s Trial Exhibit No. 6A  C 2247 
 Exhibit B – Plaintiff’s Complaint at Law  C 2248-C 2256 

 Exhibit C – Plaintiff’s Fourth Amended 
Complaint at Law 

 C 2257-C 2273 

 Exhibit D – Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine 
No. 10 

 C 2274-C 2281 

 Exhibit E – Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine 
No. 11 

 C 2282-C 2286 

 Exhibit F – Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine 
No. 12 

 C 2287-C 2292 

 Exhibit G – Defendant’s Motion in Limine 
No. 32 

 C 2293-C 2298 

 Exhibit H – Plaintiff’s Trial Brief in 
Support of Admitting Certain Testimony of 
Susan Steed 

 C 2299-C 2328 
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Document Date Page 
Plaintiff’s Motion for JNOV against Rezin 
Orthopedics and a New Trial on Damages Only, or 
in the alternative, a New Trial on all Issues against 
Rezin Orthopedics 

02/10/2017 C 2329-C 2332 

Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Support of Her Motion 
for JNOV Against Rezin Orthopedics and a New 
Trial on Damages Only, or in the alternative, a 
New Trial on all Issues Against Rezin Orthopedics 

02/10/2017 C 2333-C 2357 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 2358 

Report of Proceedings – Motions in Limine 10/27/2016 C 2359-C 2555 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 2556 

Report of Proceedings – Motions in Limine 10/31/2016 C 2557-C 2629 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 2630 

Report of Proceedings 11/02/2016 C 2631-C 2729 
 Witness: Cheryl Haddon   
  2-1102 Examination by Ms. Levin  C 2634 
  Cross Examination by Ms. De Falco  C 2688 
  2-1102 Examination by Ms. Levin  C 2697 
  Redirect Examination by Ms. De Falco  C 2699 
 Witness: Jodi Decker   

 2-1102 Examination by Ms. Levin  C 2700 
Redirect Examination by Ms. De Falco  C 2726 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

02/10/2017 C 3245 

Report of Proceedings 11/10/2016 C 3246-C 3289 
 Closing Argument for Defense by Ms. De 
Falco 

 C 3247 

Defendant’s Response to Plaintiff’s Post Trial 
Motion 

03/10/2017 C 3292-C 3307 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Electronic Filing and Proof of 
Service 

03/24/2017 C 3308 

A 45
SUBMITTED - 8718807 - Patrice Serritos - 3/3/2020 8:13 PM

125150



Document Date Page 
Plaintiff’s Reply in Further of Her Motion for 
JNOV against Rezin Orthopedics and a New Trial 
on Damages Only, or in the alternative, a New 
Trial on all Issues 

03/24/2017 C 3309-C 3314 

Court Order 04/07/2017 C 3315 
Plaintiff’s Notice of Filing and Certificate of 
Service 

05/03/2017 C 3316-C 3317 

Plaintiff’s Notice of Appeal 05/03/2017 C 3318 
Request for Preparation of Record on Appeal 05/03/2017 C 3319 
Report of Proceedings – Post-Trial Motions 04/07/2017 C 3320-C 3335 
May 22, 2017 Correspondence from Clerk of 
Appellate Court with Docketing Due Dates 

05/22/2017 C 3336-C 3337 

Docket 04/29/2010 C 3338-C 3361 
 

A 46
SUBMITTED - 8718807 - Patrice Serritos - 3/3/2020 8:13 PM

125150



  TABLE OF CONTENTS OF  
SUPPLEMENT TO THE RECORD ON APPEAL 

Document Date Page 
Certification of Supplement to the Record 02/02/2018 Sup R 1 
Supplement to the Record – Table of Contents 02/02/2018 Sup R 2 
Report of Proceedings – Table of Contents 09/12/2018 Sup R 3 

Witness: Dr. Jeffrey Paul Huml 
Direct Examination by Mr. Varchetto Sup R 5 
Cross Examination by Mr. Lucas Sup R 45 
Redirect Examination by Mr. Varchetto Sup R 74 
Recross Examination by Mr. Lucas Sup R 81 

  Further Redirect Examination by Mr. 
Varchetto       

Sup R 82 

Report of Proceedings 11/09/2016 Sup R 86-153 
Witness: Dr. Jacob Bitran 

Direct Examination by Mr. Varchetto Sup R 87 
Cross Examination by Ms. Levin Sup R 116 
Redirect Examination by Mr. Varchetto Sup R 145 

Report of Proceedings 11/10/2016 Sup R 154-204 
Closing Argument for Plaintiff by Mr. 
Lucas 
Closing Argument for Plaintiff by Ms. 
Levin 

Sup R 155 

Sup R 181 

Report of Proceedings 11/10/2016 
Rebuttal Argument by Mr. Lucas Sup R 195 
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TABLE OF CONTENTS OF TRIAL EXHIBITS 
 
Document Date Page 
Exhibits – Table of Contents  E 1-E 3 
Defendants’ Notice of Electronic Filing of Exhibits 05/08/2017 E4-E5 
Defendants’ Exhibit 1 – Dr. Stephen Treacy’s curriculum 
vitae 

 E 6-E 9 

Defendants’ Exhibit 2 – Spotting Bias in Plaintiffs’ 
Economic Loss Reports: A Primer for Both Sides 

 E 10-E 11 

Defendants’ Exhibit 5 – American College of Chest 
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